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2012 Exploration Highlights 
 

DRILLING AT GLENSIDE ON THE STUART SHELF IN SOUTH AUSTRALIA INTERSECTED A WIDE ZONE OF 
COPPER MINERALISATION 

Straits Resources Ltd, operator of the joint venture drilled significant copper up to 32m @ 0.36% Cu from 1082m 
depth within a 150m zone of strong IOCG-style alteration. 

DRILLING CONTINUED AT NABARLEK FOLLOWING UP STRONGLY ANOMALOUS URANIUM 

The Nabarlek project is part of UXA’s joint venture with RIL (Australia) Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of the major 
Indian corporation Reliance Industries Limited and lies close to the old Nabarlek uranium mine and the U40 Prospect 
in Arnhem Land NT. An RC drilling program commenced subsequent to year end, following up on strongly anomalous 
uranium in previous drilling and new targets. 

DRILLING AT MUNDI PLAINS – DOME 5 

Drilling at Dome 5 continued to return strongly anomalous zinc-lead-silver. Plans are afoot to target stratiform 

zinc-lead-silver by following up high grade historical drill intersections at Polygonum. 
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2012 Chairman’s letter to shareholders 
 

Dear Shareholder, 

During the past year the company has experienced extremely difficult conditions with a depressed sharemarket 
making conventional capital raising well nigh impossible both in Australia and overseas UXA was successful in 
attracting funding for exploration and working capital through a number of convertible notes in addition to some 
traditional equity subscriptions largely from directors and  staff. However, high volume programmed  trading in a 
depressed market resulted in the share price plummeting to all time lows, which while extremely regrettable is a 
phenomenon experienced by many junior companies in the current market. As a result of the depressed share price 
and difficult capital raising conditions the company was not able to submit its annual accounts by the due date of 30 
September and was subsequently suspended from trading on ASX in October 2012. The company has embarked on a 
new strategy to divest the GAA wireline operating company and non-core exploration assets, to effectively re-
capitalise the company and re-focus on a core strategy of exploration, advancing UXA’s highly prospective portfolio 
of projects. 

 

Subsequent to the end of the financial year 2012, UXA has succeeded in selling its US wireline logging subsidiary and 
its right to a minority interest in the Stuart Shelf copper-gold tenements in South Australia. Together these sales will 
net approximately $700,000 cash for UXA with proceeds expected to be received during early 2013. The sale of the 
Australian wireline logging business and PFN technology is being managed by Capital Strategies of Adelaide and a 
sale is anticipated early in 2013. On completion of the sale UXA plans to retire the two major components of its debt, 
namely its bank loan and balance of the unconverted notes with La Jolla Cove Investors. 

 

Exploration activities during the year have focused on drilling at Dome 5 lead-zinc-silver prospect in New South 
Wales, the Nabarlek uranium project in Northern Territory and joint venture partner Straits resource drilled on three 
Cu-Au targets in South Australia. 

 

UXA conducted second stage drilling at Dome 5 which is part of UXA’s Mundi Plains – Junction Dam option 
agreement with Teck Australia Pty Ltd (a wholly-owned Australian subsidiary of Canada’s Teck Resources Ltd). 
Whereas mineralisation was discovered in all of the holes drilled, it was not strong enough to lead this year to a 
resource definition drilling program. Focus of the project has switched to the Bimba and Broken Hill horizon rocks 
where previous drilling has shown intersections up to 3.8 m @ 9.25 % Pb + Zn. Historical core has been re-examined 
and preparations made to fly an airborne geophysical survey in early 2013 to focus new drilling on this highly 
prospective horizon. UXA is close to earning its 50% interest in Teck’s 80% interest in the Mundi Plains joint venture. 

 

In South Australia our farm-in joint venture partner, Straits Resources Ltd, completed a three-hole drilling program 
for IOCG type copper-gold-uranium deposits. At Glenside Straits intersected 32m @ 0.34% Cu from 1089m depth. 
Subsequent to year UXA’s joint venture interest in this project has been sold to Straits for $375,000 cash.  
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Also in central South Australia UXA has been granted a new exploration licence covering a zone of close surface gold 
anomalism which  lies  about 15km north of  the  >1 Million ounce Challenger  gold mine.  This  area  lies within  the 
“green  zone” of  the Woomera Prohibited Area where  the  South Australian  and  Federal Governments have      re‐
defined regulations for access, so the timetable for commencement of exploration should become clear shortly. 

 

In  the Northern  Territory, we  are  exploring  for  uranium with  our  joint  venture  partner,  RIL  Australia  Pty  Ltd,  a 
wholly‐owned  subsidiary of  the giant  Indian company Reliance  Industries Limited. The Company has completed a 
first stage RC drilling program at Nabarlek North, which has been successful in intersecting some strongly anomalous 
uranium, up  to 1.3 m @ 460ppm eU3O8, along  strike  from  the known U40 Prospect, which  lies only 280m  to  the 
south of the Company’s Nabarlek North tenement. Further drilling is planned. 

 

In December 2012, the Company’s Managing Director, Dr Russell Penney gave his contracted six months’ notice of 
his retirement. On behalf of the board, I wish to thank Dr Penney for his outstanding contribution and wish him and 
his family well in his retirement. Pending a decision on a replacement MD, I am pleased to advise that Simon Powell 
has been appointed General Manager. 

 

The Company’s other employees have also made a sterling contribution in what has been an extremely trying year. 

 

Yours faithfully 
 

 

Neill Arthur 
Chairman 
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Corporate strategy 
 

UXA is a diversified base metal and uranium explorer that has assembled a pipeline of highly prospective 

tenements throughout Australia all located within world class mining provinces and near existing infrastructure. 

UXA also owns GAA Wireline an independently managed borehole wireline logging company operating in 

Australia and the United States of America. 

Subsequent to year end the Company embarked on a new corporate strategy aimed at re-capitalising the 

company through assets sales to allow the company to continue with its core business of exploration. 

 

 

Capital Strategies of Adelaide has been appointed to manage the sale of GAA Wireline’s Australian business 

including the Prompt Fission Neutron technology. 

The US logging business of GAA Wireline has been sold to a group of GAA Wireline’s managers lead by Non-

Executive Director David Sutich. The sale, on completion, will net US$350,000 to UXA and is subject to UXA 

shareholder approval. 

UXA also sold its non-core right to hold a minority interest in the Stuart Shelf joint venture tenements to Joint 

Venture partner Straits Resources Ltd for $375,000 in cash. Completion of the transaction was subject to 

Ministerial Approval and assignment of Native Title Agreements, with final approvals and payment received in 

2013. 

In 2013 UXA plans to continue with its exploration focus on its key exploration projects: 

 The Mundi Plains – Junction Dam zinc-lead-silver project in New South Wales and South Australia, 

 The Commonwealth Hill gold project in South Australia, 

 Uranium joint venture with Reliance in Northern Territory. 
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Review of operations 

 

Exploration 

Exploration during 2011-12 has seen the completion of drilling programs at Dome 5 on the Mundi Plains 
base metals project in New South Wales and at Glenside on the Stuart Shelf Cu-Au project in South 
Australia. Following encouraging results from drilling at the Nabarlek uranium project in Northern Territory 
in 2011, further ground surveys have been completed in readiness for a second phase drilling program 
seeking high grade unconformity style uranium. Exploration commenced at the Pandanus West uranium 
project in Northern Territory with the completion of an airborne geophysical survey. 

 

 

Fig 1. Location of UXA’s exploration projects 
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Mundi Plains (NSW)  
and Junction Dam (SA) 

 

The Broken Hill region of western New South Wales is one of the world’s most prospective areas for the discovery of 
world class stratiform (SEDEX or Broken Hill type) lead-zinc-silver deposits. The lead-zinc-silver mines at Broken Hill 
have operated continuously since the start of production in 1885 and produced over 200 million tonnes of ore. The 
new Rasp Mine at Broken Hill is currently being developed. 

UXA’s Mundi Plains and Junction Dam project tenements are located immediately west of Broken Hill and are 
underlain by the same geology that hosts the Broken Hill orebodies and the IOCG style Cu-Au deposits next door in 
South Australia, where Havilah Resources NL has recently announced measured and indicated resources of 125Mt @ 
0.50% Cu, 0.39 g/t Au. UXA’s project area is covered by up to 150m of recent sediments and is significantly under-
explored despite having attracted the attention of major company explorers in the past. 

The Mundi Plains and Junction Dam Option Agreement 

UXA has an option agreement to earn up to 100% of Teck Australia Pty Ltd’s (“Teck”) joint venture interest in a 
group of seven granted exploration licences at Mundi Plains and Junction Dam in New South Wales and South 
Australia subject to certain earn-back rights retained by Teck. The agreement includes the Dome 5 zinc discovery at 
Mundi Plains which was made by Teck, in joint venture with PlatSearch NL in 2007 and the Mammoth-Polygonum 
prospects where historical drilling intersected strata form and Broken Hill style zinc-lead-silver mineralisation and 
IOCG-style copper gold mineralisation. UXA has met the initial A$1.2M minimum spend on exploration and will earn 
50% of Teck’s interest when it has completed $2.0M of expenditures in the aggregate. 

UXA’s final percentage interest in the project is subject to the elections of PlatSearch and Eaglehawk under the terms 
of the joint venture: for instance if UXA earns 100% of the Project Interest this may be either 80% or 100% of the PTE 
JV depending on whether PlatSearch and Eaglehawk have contributed or diluted. If Teck exercises its earn back 
rights to the full extent then UXA’s interest may be either 35% or 28% depending on the elections of PlatSearch and 
Eaglehawk (Junction Dam only). Subsequent to year end an agreement was signed with Teck and PlatSearch which 
terminated PlatSearch’s earn in to the Cover Rights in NSW which were previously excluded from UXA’s rights. The 
Cover Rights have now reverted to JV and become part of UXA’s earn-in. The rights to uranium on the Junction Dam 
tenement in South Australia are held by Marmota Energy Ltd under a contractual arrangement with Teck. 

Also subsequent to year end, UXA came to agreement with Teck to extend the time period for UXA to earn its 50% 
share of Teck’s interest. The amended agreement now requires UXA to complete $2.1 million in exploration 
expenditure by 31 March 2013, of which UXA had completed over $1.96 million in expenditure by 30 November 
2012. PlatSearch and Eaglehawk have elected not to contribute to the next phase of exploration, an airborne 
geophysical survey. This will result in Teck’s joint venture interest increasing above 80% of the PTE JV. 

A number of non-core tenements have been dropped by the Joint Venture, subsequent to year end, leaving the core 
group of tenements covering Dome 5 and the Bimba – Broken Hill horizons, EL 4509 (South Australia) and EL’s 6404 
and EL 7690 in New South Wales. 
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Fig 2. Location of UXA’s Mundi Plains and Junction Dam tenements 
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UXA’s Exploration Program at Dome 5 

 

UXA completed a second stage five hole diamond drilling program at the Dome 5 MVT lead-zinc prospect to explore 
the extent of the mineralising system and further define the higher grade zone previously identified.Three holes 
were drilled on 250m centres to the west of the known area of mineralisation, one to the east and one as an infill 
hole (Fig. 3). All five holes have intersected mineralisation at the expected position in the limestone horizon at 315 – 
350m depth. The mineralisation consists of disseminated and veinlet-style sphalerite and galena with accompanying 
pyrite and fluorite in a siliceous matrix. The results suggest (Table 1) that the mineralisation, though extensive, is 
weakening to the west, but remains open to the south east.  The possibility of a higher grade zone within the area of 
known mineralisation cannot be ruled out based on the current widely spaced drilling. 

 

Drill hole 
ID 

Depth 
From (m) 

Depth To 
(m) 

Interval 
(m) 

Pb+ Zn % Pb % Zn % Ag (ppm) 

11DF16 324.47 324.97 0.50 0.57 0.555 0.015 5 

11DF16 324.97 325.66 0.59 0.14 0.070 0.070 <2 

11DF17 316.45 316.78 0.34 1.19 0.075 1.115 3 

11DF18 323.45 324.08 0.63 2.25 0.005 2.240 6 

11DF18 324.08 324.75 0.67 0.26 0.070 0.190 <2 

11DF18 328.00 329.00 1.00 0.34 0.045 0.295 3 

11DF18 330.00 331.00 1.00 0.16 0.015 0.145 3 

12DF19 342.27 342.77 0.50 0.21 0.005 0.205 <2 

12DF19 349.17 349.67 0.50 0.71 0.030 0.675 <2 

12DF20 330.34 330.81 0.47 0.20 0.140 0.055 <2 

Table 1. Analytical results from 2012 drilling at Dome 5 (holes located on Figure 3) 

 

All holes were drilled vertically. Sampling and Assay method: sawn NQ half drill core samples were crushed and milled 
to 85% passing 75um in accordance with AMDEL’s PREP2,3 sample preparation procedure, prior to assay using 
metallurgical grade digest with ICPAES finish in accordance with AMDEL’s MET1E process.  

Previous drilling by UXA at Dome 5 returned a best intercept is of  3.0m of high grade sphalerite and galena 
mineralisation grading 15.8% Pb+Zn and 63ppm Ag from 315.0m in drill hole DF12. A second zone of mineralisation, 
5m below the high grade zone, returned 1.29m grading6.88% Pb+Zn and 20ppm Ag from 322.76m (Table 2). 
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Drill hole 

ID 
Depth 

From (m) 
Depth To 

(m) 
Interval 

(m) 
Pb+ Zn % Pb % Zn % Ag (ppm) 

DF02 327.3 328.3 1.00 21.9 8.0 13.9 75 

 337.6 340.6 3.00 7.2 0.2 7.0 4 

DF04 328.2 329.1 0.9 2.57 0.03 2.54 7.3 

DF05 337.1 337.4 0.3 9.03 0.41 8.62 8.3 

DF06 317.2 318.0 0.85 24.05 4.9 19.15 83 

DF07 340.3 341.3 1.00 1.10 1.05 0.05 8.2 

11DF09 323.05 326.00 2.95 3.36 3.00 0.50 11 

11DF10 334.60 334.80 0.20 6.92 0.10 6.82 5 

11DF11 333.61 333.93 0.32 5.73 2.86 2.87 27 

11DF12 315.00 318.00 3.00 15.84 4.04 11.80 62.91 

 322.76 324.05 1.29 6.88 0.7 6.18 19.71 

 
Table 2.Significant analytical results from previous drilling at Dome 5, 2007 – 2011 

 
 

Fig 3. Dome 5 Prospect, basement geology and location of drill holes 
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Fig 4. Dome 5 MVT Prospect, cross section A-B and C-D – see Fig 3 for location 

 

Comparison of Dome 5 with the Cadjebut MVT deposit in WA 

A comparison with the Cadjebut zinc deposit in Western Australia shows many similarities and is a guide to the 
density of drilling needed to define an orebody of this style of MVT mineralisation. 
 
The Cadjebut orebody had a pre-mining resource of 3.2Mt @ 14.0% Zn, 4.8% Pb and BHP Billiton started mining the 
deposit in 1988. The orebody was relatively flat lying in cross section and plunged gently from 45m depth down to 
about 270m depth. The dimensions of the orebody, which comprised two stacked lenses, were 50-150m wide, each 
lens 2-8m thick and running for 3,000m down plunge. 
 
By comparison, the mineralisation at Dome 5 has so far been defined by drilling at 250m spacing or wider and is still 
open. With an orebody only 50-150m wide the Cadjebut deposit would fit between drill holes within the 500m wide 
high grade zone at Dome 5. 
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Plans for further exploration at Mammoth-Polygonum 

 

The highly prospective Polygonum - Mammoth Cu-Au and Pb-Zn-Ag zones of mineralisation were identified through 
historical drilling by a number of companies (including past explorers CRA and Inco) targeting large tonnage Pb-Zn-
Ag massive sulphide deposits, yet no drilling has been conducted in the area in the past decade. The prospects lie 
along a well known mineralised horizon, the Bimba Formation, which in South Australia includes the Portia (Au) and 
Kalkaroo (Cu, Au) deposits successfully explored by Havilah Resources NL in recent years. This highly prospective 
zone stretches for over 50km in strike length through the Junction Dam and Mundi Plains tenements and the 
historical drilling includes some significant intersections in Cu-Au and Pb-Zn-Ag mineralisation (Fig. 6). 
 

UXA has completed its review of the historical data, including the examination of old drill core held in Broken Hill. 
That review has confirmed that there are three prospective horizons at Mammoth-Polygonum: 

1. A lower horizon prospective for Cu-Au which occurs in the lower part of the Bimba Formation and the 
underlying quartz albitite. This is the horizon which is mineralised at Kalkaroo, 50km to the west. 

2. A stratabound Pb-Zn-Ag rich horizon within the calcsilicates and meta-siltstones of the Bimba Formation. 
Better historical drill intersections along this horizon include 3.8m @ 9.25% Pb+Zn in hole DDIN3 and 5.8m 
@ 4.01% Pb+Zn in hole DDIN4, which lies up-dip of DDIN3 and 465m along strike. The sulphide rich horizons 
can be traced for over 10km along strike in widely spaced historical drilling. 

3. A garnet rich metasediment horizon which overlies the Bimba Formation and includes broad zones of 
strongly anomalous lead and zinc (e.g. 103m @ 0.27% Zn + Pb in hole PO6 at Polygonum). This zone is 
correlated as the along strike position of the Broken Hill ore horizon and is anomalous at both Mammoth 
and Polygonum (8km along strike) in widely spaced drilling. This horizon was also intersected by some of the 
deeper holes (700-900m depth) drilled at Dome 5 which lies 12km north east of Polygonum. 

As the overburden in the Mammoth-Polygonum area is around 150m UXA intends to focus exploration activity on 
the discovery of a massive Pb-Zn-Ag sulphide deposit. A new exploration program has been prepared to follow up 
the previous mineralised drill intersections targeting the Pb-Zn-Ag mineralisation in the Bimba horizon and the 
overlying Broken Hill ore horizon. The review of data has highlighted the possibility that the Polygonum-Mammoth 
area is part of third order basin. Third order basins are recognised as important sub-basins for hosting stratabound 
Pb-Zn-Ag deposits around the world. Future drilling will focus on these mineralised horizons at the margin of the 
third order basin, which is discernible in the airborne magnetic as an abrupt change in magnetic signature along 
strike. The first stage in defining drill targets will be to fly a new high resolution airborne magnetic survey. 
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Fig 5. Mundi Plains and Junction Dam, tenements and prospects over airborne magnetics 

 

 

Fig 6.Cross section at Polygnum Prospect, Mundi Plains. 

 

 

 

Page 13



UXA RESOURCES LIMITED 

2012 ANNUAL REPORT 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
NORTHERN TERRITORY  
– Uranium Projects 

 
During the year field activities focused on the Nabarlek area, following up on positive exploration results from 2011. 
Exploration was initiated at Pandanus West in the Westmoreland uranium province close to the Queensland border. 

Nabarlek North (EL 24868) and Nabarlek West (ELs 24564 & 28245) 

The Nabarlek licences form part of UXA’s joint venture with RIL Australia Pty Ltd (“RILA”), a subsidiary of Reliance 
Industries Limited, a Fortune Global 500 company and India’s largest company by market value.  RILA holds 49% 
interest in the licences and is contributing 49% of exploration funding. UXA is the operator of the joint venture. 

UXA’s Nabarlek North and Nabarlek West licences (EL 24564, 24868 and 28245) cover 221km² and are highly 
prospective for unconformity style uranium deposits and share similar geological features with the former high 
grade Nabarlek open cut mine (located 7km south) and the operating Ranger uranium mine in the Northern 
Territory.  

The licences cover an area of 221km² and are highly prospective for unconformity style uranium deposits and share 
similar geological features with the former Nabarlek open cut (located 7km south) and the operating Ranger uranium 
mine in the Northern Territory.  

Additionally, Nabarlek North (EL 24868) lies approximately 280 metres immediately north of a recent high grade 
mineralisation discovery (U40 area) which reported high grade uranium intercepts up to 6.80m @ 6.71% U3O8 . 

During the 2011 field season, UXA conducted a first phase RC percussion drilling program along three lines in the 
south east corner of the Nabarlek North tenement (Fig.8) targeting the potential strike length extension of the U40 
uranium prospect. This drilling returned strongly anomalous results from gamma logging in 5 of the holes up to 
1.3m @ 460ppm eU3O8. 

The company also completed a 20km² radon sampling and soil geochemical program spanning the south and south 
eastern sections of the Nabarlek North tenement. This survey identified three target areas for follow up including 
further drilling on the target north of U40. 

Subsequent to year end UXA and RILA completed a follow-up 21 hole, 1,740m RC percussion drilling program at 
Nabarlek North. Elevated uranium values along with strong sericitic, chloritic and hematitic alteration returned 
from 5 of the 11 holes were confirmed by elevated hand held scintillometer counts and down hole gamma logging.  
Drill chip samples have been submitted for chemical assay and results are awaited. 

Subsequent to year end UXA and RILA elected to relinquish the Nabarlek West licences (EL4564 and 28245) from 
the project due to their inaccessibility.  
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Fig 7. Nabarlek North project NT, 2012 drill targets 

 

 

 

Fig 8. Nabarlek North project Target Area 1, 2011 drill results, radon and soil geochemistry 
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Pandanus West (ELA 24565) 

 

The Pandanus West exploration licence (EL 24565) is also part of UXA’s joint venture with RILA. As part of the first 
phase exploration program, a 5,900 line KM airborne radiometric and aeromagnetic survey has recently been 
completed, flown by Thompson Aviation. A number of uranium channel anomalies were detected. Field mapping 
indicated weak U2/Th anomalies identified by the airborne radiometric survey to be uranium associated with 
Tertiary and Cretaceous cover units. 

The occurrence of Westmoreland Conglomerate has been positively identified in the field and can be shown to 
span the entire length of the exploration licence at its southern boundary.  

The Pandanus West area is situated in the Murphy uranium province in the Northern Territory and is prospective for 
world class Westmoreland or unconformity style uranium deposits. The Westmoreland uranium deposit in 
Queensland contains a NI 43-101 indicated and inferred resource totalling 51.9 million pounds of U3O8 

 

. 

 

 

Fig 9. Location of Pandanus West uranium project 
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Fig 11. Pandanus West airborne radiometrics (U2/Th) and interpreted geology 

 

 

Rum Jungle NE (ELA 24586), Katherine North (ELA 24577) 

These application areas are currently in moratorium following previous attempts to engage with traditional owners 
and locals. The Company expects to re-enter negotiations once the 5 year moratorium periods have expired (2012 
for Rum Jungle and 2014 for Katherine North). Rum Jungle NE is part of the RILA JV, Katherine North ELA is held 
100% by UXA. 
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SOUTH AUSTRALIA  
– Stuart Shelf Cu-Au-U Projects 

 

Straits Resources JV 

The Stuart Shelf in South Australia is one of the world’s most prospective provinces for giant copper gold (uranium) 
deposits and includes two major mining operations, Olympic Dam and Prominent Hill; with a third deposit 
Carrapateena currently being evaluated. The Stuart Shelf offers its own unique challenges to explorers with much of 
the prospective area for iron oxide copper-gold breccia-hosted deposits (IOCG) lying beneath thick sequences of un-
mineralised cover rocks. 

Subsequent to year end the Company sold its joint venture interest in the tenements remaining in the Stuart Shelf 
JV to joint venture partner Straits Resources Ltd for $375,000. The transaction closed early in 2013. The description 
of joint venture activities below appears as a matter of historical record.  

The Stuart Shelf Joint Venture is between UXA and Straits Resources Limited (“Straits” earning a 70% interest). The 
joint venture includes 9 tenements for a total of 3,300km2 in the highly prospective Olympic Dam-Prominent Hill 
area prospective for world class Cu-Au (U) deposits (Fig 2). The program is led by joint venture partner Straits 
Resources Ltd (ASX: SRQ, “Straits”). Straits has the right to earn a 70% interest in the tenements from UXA by 
spending $10 million on exploration. Straits has confirmed that its expenditure on the JV has now exceeded the 
minimum $1.5 million requirement under the terms of the joint venture agreement signed in 2010. 

In conjunction with the sale of the company’s minority interest in its joint ventured tenements on the Stuart Shelf, 
UXA will relinquish the remainder of its tenement holding in this region in order to focus on its higher priority 
projects. 

 

Fig 12. Stuart Shelf IOCG JV Project, tenements and drill targets 
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Straits has reported the completion of a three hole diamond drilling program targeting iron oxide copper gold 
(IOCG) deposits on UXA’s Winjabbie (EL4764), Glenside (EL4700) and Oak Dam (EL4800) tenements. This followed a 
considerable amount of target generation work, mostly re-processing geophysical data to generate drill targets. 

Glenside 

The Glenside drill hole UGSDD001, completed in April 2012, intersected altered and visibly mineralised basement 
rocks over 149.6m from 1081.7m to the end of hole at 1231.3m depth (vertical drill hole). Geochemical results have 
confirmed the presence of broad widths of copper mineralisation from the top to the bottom of this zone (Fig 3, 
Table 1). 

The three main mineralised intersections (Table 1), although not continuous, in aggregate amount to 96m@ 0.21% 
Cu. The uppermost intersection of 32m @ 0.36% Cu corresponds to the zone with sporadic visible bornite (copper 
mineral). Silver (Ag) and gold (Au) values are intermittently anomalous throughout, particularly in the upper 
mineralised zones, with peak values of 1m @ 14.7 ppm Ag and 0.37 ppm Au from 1150m depth.  

From (m) To (m) Interval (m) Cu % Ag ppm 

1095 1127 32.0 0.36  

including 1097 1116 19.0 0.54  

including 1100 1101 1.0 1.93 13.9 

and 1105 1107 2.0 1.57 10.0 

1143 1161 18.0 0.16  

including 1143 1152 9.0 0.26  

Including 1149 1152 3.0 0.63 8.5 

1175 1221 46.0 0.13  

Including 1179 1199 20.0 0.16  

Table 1. Significant mineralised intercepts in diamond drill hole UGSDD001.1 

 

 

 

 

                                                           

 1
Analyses by ALS Minerals Adelaide using ICP-AES scheme ME-ICP61 (Ag ,Al, As, Ba ,Be ,Bi, Ca, Cd, Co, Cr ,Cu, Fe, K, La, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, 

Ni, P, Pb, S, Sb, Sc, Sr, Th, Ti, Tl, U, V, W, Zn) and ME-MS62S for Ce, Eu, Nb, Tb- pulverised with 4 acid digest (ppm +/- %). 

 Au analysed via AA-21 (ppm) 

 Samples collected as 1 meter intervals, ½ BQ core. 

 Intercepts calculated using 1,000 ppm Cu cut-off (Bold) otherwise 2,000ppm Cu cut-off 

 Maximum of 5.0 m of internal dilution 

 UGSDD001 drilled vertically, and represents first hole into the target area, as such the Company is unable to state if mineralised intercepts 
approximate true width. Page 19
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The rare earth elements cerium and lanthanum are also anomalous throughout the mineralised zones with a peak 
interval of 2m @ 1940ppm Ce and 1400 ppm La from 1150m depth. This is important as these elements are 
considered to be indicators of an IOCG style mineralising system. 

UGSDD001 was drilled on a large combined gravity and magnetic feature which is located 50km south east of the 
Olympic Dam mine and 40km north-west of the Carrapateena Cu-Au deposit.  Previous drilling by WMC (1978) in 
drill hole DRD1 (“old WMC hole”), located 8km to the north of Straits’ drill hole, intersected anomalous Cu 
mineralisation (6.0m @ 0.37% Cu from 1140m depth) in the same geophysical feature (Fig 13). The results from 
UGSDD001 show a considerably stronger zone of mineralisation than in the old WMC hole, leaving considerable 
scope for follow-up. 

 

Fig 13. Glenside tenement, magnetic and drill hole locations. 
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Fig 14. Schematic log of basement rocks in Glenside drill hole UGSDD001 

Winjabbie 

Straits’ diamond drill hole at Winjabbie, UWJDD001, was drilled vertically on a new geophysical target. Previous 
drilling by UXA at Winjabbie had intersected 42 metres @ 0.34% Cu (including 9m @ 0.8% Cu) from 824m depth in 
hole 07WJ01, lying 4 km east of Straits’ hole. UWJDD001 intersected 21.0m @ 2,983 ppm Zn, 2.7 ppm Ag and 848 
ppm Pb in the Tapley Hill Formation (black shale and dolomite bands) which overlies the IOCG-prospective 
basement rocks. This style of mineralisation is widespread on the Stuart Shelf. The basement lithologies were 
intersected below an unconformity at 1101.4m, including Gawler Range Volcanics, above the end of hole at 1,284m 
depth. The basement lithologies have not recorded any significant geochemical anomalism.  

Oak Dam 

Straits also completed the drilling of the third hole in the program, located at UXA’s Oak Dam tenement. Drill hole 
UODDD001 was drilled on a combined gravity and magnetic anomaly and intersected basement lithologies, 
comprising variably altered and veined granitoids and highly magnetic mafic to ultramafic rocks, from 802.6m, with 
the hole being terminated at 1,104m. Alteration is weak and consists of carbonate and rarer haematite. Carbonate-
haematite-magnetite-pyrite +/- chalcopyrite veins were also noted. 
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Commonwealth Hill (EL4971) 

 

The Commonwealth Hill tenement (EL4971) (formerly ELA 50/11)lies in the Green Zone of the Woomera Prohibited 
Area (WPA) and is prospective for Archaean lode gold deposits, similar to the Challenger gold mine 10km to the 
south, and for sandstone-hosted uranium in the Garford palaeochannel which transects the northern part of the 
tenement. Previous exploration at the Nemesis gold prospect, revealed a linear gold in calcrete anomaly which has 
been inadequately tested by widely spaced shallow RAB drilling. 

Subsequent to year end, the Commonwealth Hill tenement (EL4971) was awarded to UXA on 9 August 2012 for a 
period of 2 years. New WPA access deeds are currently being reviewed by DMITRE, the Defence Department and 
exploration and mining companies. Under the revised terms for exploration in the WPA, Green Zone tenement 
holders will have 309 days annual access to their tenements for exploration. 

 

WESTERN AUSTRALIA  
 

Canning Basin  
Uranium Projects  

During 2010, UXA assembled rights to five tenements with uranium potential in the Canning Basin, 120km southeast 
of Derby, Western Australia. The tenement package included the Myroodah uranium prospect, in an option 
agreement with Rey Resources Ltd, and the Mudjalla project in an option agreement with Paul Askins and a 100% 
held tenement at Myroodah West.  

A meeting was held with representatives of native title claim group covering UXA’s tenement interests.  This did not 
lead to a satisfactory outcome and a willingness on behalf of the native title claim group to engage with UXA for 
uranium exploration and conduct heritage clearances. Accordingly UXA has terminated the agreements with Rey 
Resources Ltd covering the Myroodah tenements and Paul Askins covering the Mudjalla tenements and relinquished 
the Myroodah West tenement. This will allow UXA to concentrate its exploration efforts on its Northern Territory 
uranium and New South Wales base metal projects. 

JORC Compliance Statement 

Technical Information in this report is based on information compiled by Mr Simon Powell who is employed by UXA 
Resources Limited and who is a Member of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Powell has 
sufficient exploration experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under 
consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 
Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’ (“JORC 
2004”).  Mr Powell consents to the inclusion in this release of the matters based on his information in the form and 
context in which it appears. 
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Details of all Tenements held or which UXA has rights to at 30 June 2012 

 

  Exploration Licence   Date  Area 

Number State Name Status Application Granted Expiry km2 

EL 4927 South Australia Playford (JV) Granted 18/08/2010 19/06/2012 18/06/2014 285 
EL 4800 South Australia Oak Dam North East (JV ) Granted 18/11/2010 15/11/2011 14/11/2013 760 
EL 4928 South Australia Playford South East (JV) Granted 15/09/2011 18/12/2011 17/12/2013 477 
EL 3866 South Australia Chinaman Hat Hill (JV) Granted 11/09/2006 30/07/2007 29/07/2011 461 
ELA 99/12 South Australia Chinaman Hat Hill (JV) Subsequent application 27/04/2012 - - 461 
EL 4397 South Australia Lake Torrens (JV) Granted 18/06/2009 10/12/2009 09/12/2012 206 
EL 4437 South Australia Halifax Hill (JV) Granted 18/06/2009 16/02/2010 15/02/2013 113 
EL 4438 South Australia Lake Torrens East (JV) Granted 18/06/2009 16/02/2010 15/02/2013 87 
EL 4509 South Australia Junction Dam (JV) Renewal pending 18/02/2010 02/06/2010 01/06/2012 341 
EL 4700 South Australia Glenside (JV) Granted 23/06/2005 21/03/2011 20/03/2013 354 
EL 4764 South Australia Winjabbie East (JV) Granted 18/08/2010 01/07/2011 30/06/2013 244 
ELA 50/11 South Australia Commonwealth Hill Application 17/03/2011 - - 265 
ELA 163/11 South Australia Trimmer Inlet (JV) Replacement application 15/06/2011 - - 32 

  Sub-Total      3,625 

EL 24564 Northern Territory Nabarlek West (JV) Granted 02/02/2005 27/09/2010 26/09/2016 26 
ELA 28243 Northern Territory Nabarlek West “A” (JV) Application deferred 02/02/2005 - - 47 
ELA 28244 Northern Territory Nabarlek West “B” (JV) Application deferred 02/02/2005 - - 8 
EL 28245 Northern Territory Nabarlek West “C” (JV) Granted 02/02/2005 27/09/2010 26/09/2016 3 
EL 24565 Northern Territory Pandanus West (JV) Granted 02/02/2005 18/05/2011 17/05/2017 960 
ELA 28690 Northern Territory Pandanus West “A” (JV) Application deferred 02/02/2005 - - 7 
ELA 28691 Northern Territory Pandanus West “B” (JV) Application deferred 02/02/2005 - - 7 
ELA 28692 Northern Territory Pandanus West “C” (JV) Application deferred 02/02/2005 - - 14 
ELA 24577 Northern Territory Katherine North Application deferred 02/02/2005 - - 223 
ELA 24586 Northern Territory Rum Jungle North East (JV) Application deferred 02/02/2005 - - 35 
EL 24868 Northern Territory Nabarlek North (JV) Granted 02/02/2005 27/09/2010 26/09/2016 191 
ELA 28241 Northern Territory Nabarlek North “A” (JV) Application deferred 19/08/2005 - - 13 
ELA 28242 Northern Territory Nabarlek North “B” (JV) Application deferred 19/08/2005 - - 12 

 Sub-Total      1,546 

E04/2018 Western Australia Myroodah West Granted 15/03/2010 22/07/2011 21/07/2016 114 

 Sub-Total      114 

EL 6404 New South Wales Mundi Plains (JV) Granted - 20/04/2005 19/04/2013 289 
EL 7414 New South Wales Paradise (JV) Renewal pending - 22/10/2009 21/10/2011 181 
EL 7625 New South Wales Laurium (JV) Granted 14/05/2010 07/10/2010 08/10/2012 226 
EL 7627 New South Wales Pinecross(JV) Granted 14/05/2010 07/10/2010 08/10/2012 208 
EL 7647 New South Wales Paramount (JV) Granted 22/07/2010 06/12/2010 05/12/2012 20 
EL 7690 New South Wales Midnight (JV) Granted - 19/01/2011 18/01/2013 126 

Sub-Total       1,050 

Grand Total       6,335 
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GAA WIRELINE (GAA) 

SUMMARY 

 

The Company’s borehole wireline division continued to service clients, mainly in the mining industry, throughout 
Australia and in the United States of America. Further to the continued growth of GAA’s existing revenue base the 
company has successfully expanded into Western Australia and the top end of the Northern Territory. Commodity 
groups serviced in these areas range from heavy mineral sands to iron ore, coal and uranium. At this stage the 
contracts have been campaign based but an extension into longer term contracts is anticipated now that there is a 
presence in these regions. GAA has continued to diversify to protect against commodity downtown by expanding 
capability around geotechnical engineering. This was to address the growing need for accurate engineering 
information during the mine planning and design process. Revenues in Australia recovered from the previous year, 
affected by the prolonged rains, which had heavily impacted on clients’ drilling programs in Queensland.  

GAA has secured a long term contract with AuScope, a government funded academic earth science infrastructure 
project. The AuScope Infrastructure System is designed to enable the development, of an online, four-dimensional 
Earth Model for the Australian Continent. GAA is directly involved in the subsurface observatory component through 
the University of Melbourne.  

Subsequent to year end UXA has made the decision to sell its wireline logging business, both in Australia and the US 
along with the Prompt Fission neutron technology. The decision was influenced by a general contraction of 
exploration activity and resulting reduced exploration logging. UXA has decided to refocus on the core business of 
exploration and significantly reduce debt exposure. 

Capital Strategies of Adelaide has been appointed to manage the sale of GAA Wireline’s Australian business 

including the Prompt Fission Neutron technology. 

The US logging business of GAA Wireline has been sold to a group of GAA Wireline’s managers lead by Non-

Executive Director David Sutich and GAA Wireline’s CEO David Quinn. UXA will receive US$350,000 on completion 

of the sale and is subject to UXA shareholder approval. 

 

Performance 

 

GAA Wireline’s operations for FY2012 generated revenue of $4,587 million, a significant improvement over $3.4 
million in 2011. The EBITDA profit for FY2012 was $0.3 million compared to a loss of $0.7 million in 2011. 

During FY12 GAA was operating at near full capacity with long term contracts in the following diverse industries: 

 Iron ore in South Australia and New South Wales, 

 Coal and coal seam gas in Queensland and Northern Territory, 

 Uranium in South Australia, Northern Territory and Western Australia, 

 Uranium in the United States of America, 

 Base metals in South Australia. 

 Heavy mineral sands in Western Australia 

 Geotechnical engineering in South Australia and Victoria 
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Directors’ report 

 

 

The Directors present their report together with the financial report of UXA Resources Limited (UXA) and of 
the Group, being the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2012 and the auditor’s report 
thereon. 

1. Directors 

The Directors at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 

Name and qualifications 
Experience, special responsibilities and other director 
relationships 

Neill Fleming Arthur 

Age 69 

Chairman 

Eur Ing BE Chem.(Hons), FAusIMM, C Eng, FIChE, 
FAICD 

Neill is Chairman of Granite Power Limited; and a 
Director of Australian Metals Group Limited. Formerly 
Chairman of Metallum Resources PLC (UK); from 2006 
to 2012;  and Chairman of Ambre CTL Ltd. From January 
2005 until December 2010 he was a Director of The 
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (The 
AusIMM); until March 2006, Director of Superior Coal 
Limited; formerly CEO of ASX 200 listed and unlisted 
organisations in Australia and overseas; currently or 
formerly advisor on energy and infrastructure issues to 
a number of government bodies in Australia and 
overseas; and a professional mentor. 

Neill was appointed as a Director and Chairman of the 
Board on 17 February 2005. 

Other listed company Directorships held during past 3 
years: Nil 

Stephen Russell Penney  

Age 59 

Managing Director  

BA, PhD, FAusIMM, 

Dr. Russell Penney was appointed Managing Director of 
the company, effective as of 3 December 2008.  

Previous to this appointment, Dr Penney was Executive 
Director and Chief Executive Officer of NGM Resources 
Limited (ASX: NGM), a diversified mineral exploration 
company with a focus on uranium and base metals.   

During his 4 years at NGM, Dr Penney led the team that 
acquired and advanced uranium and nickel exploration 
projects in three African nations.  Dr Penney has a PhD 
in geology and a BA from Trinity College Dublin 
University and has conducted research at Oxford and 
Melbourne Universities. 

Dr Penney has worked for a number of larger mining 
companies including Placer Dome (now part of Barrick 
Gold), Pasminco (later becoming Zinifex), BP Minerals 
and CSIRO Exploration and Mining. 

Other listed company Directorships held during past 3 
years: Nil 

Dr Penney resigned as a Director in 14 December 2012, 
with an effective date of 14 June 2013. 
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1. Directors (continued) 

Name and qualifications Experience, special responsibilities and other director 
relationships 

Scott McKay 

Age 50 

Non-Executive Director  

BA, CA 

Scott is a chartered accountant and has spent 33 years 
in Europe, China and Australia in Leadership and 
Consulting roles specializing in supply chain in a range 
of projects.  His roles have included Finance Director, 
Chief Executive and General Manager Supply Chain 
roles and in delivery in brownfield and greenfield 
projects in Mining, Oil and Gas, Metals, Agriculture, 
Industrial and Consumer Good Sectors. 

Scott is an executive with the Resources Group in 
Aurecon and leads the Bulk Commodity Supply Chain 
group internationally as well as having a business 
development and client relationship management role 
with BHP Billiton and has been involved with the 
Olympic Dam project locally.  He has also led mergers 
and acquisitions and held roles on remuneration and 
audit sub-committees. 

Appointed 29 March 2012 

David Sutich 

Age 45 

Non-Executive Director 

BEng 

David is an electrical engineer and wireline specialist 
with 18 years of business and operational management 
experience working with the major international oilfield 
services company Schlumberger across the Middle East, 
Asia and Australia. 

David has extensive global business development 
experience in the high technology resources services 
industry. 

Appointed 29 March 2012 

Stephen Geoffrey Gemell 

Age 57 

Non-Executive Director    

BE Mining (Hons), FAusIMM(CP), MAIME, 
MMICA 

Stephen is a consulting mining engineer who has had 
more than 30 years experience in the mining industry, 
both in Australia and overseas. He has previously held 
senior operating roles including CEO positions, and 
executive and non-executive Directorships in ASX-listed 
mining companies and unlisted mine operators or joint 
ventures. 

Stephen was appointed as a Director on 1 March 2005 
and is a member of the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees. 

Other listed company Directorships held during past 3 
years:  

-     Argent Minerals Limited  

-     Eastern Iron Limited 

-     Indochine Mining Limited 

Stephen retired as a Director 14 December 2011. 
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1. Directors (continued) 

Name and qualifications Experience, special responsibilities and other director 
relationships 

Ian McLeay Mutton 

Age 64 

Non-Executive Director   

A non-practising lawyer with an extensive background 
in competition and product liability laws. He now 
assists firms to define their ethics so as to ensure 
alignment with the laws that govern their operations. 
He also assists with the development and 
implementation of programs aimed at ensuring 
compliance with the competition laws.  

A decade with the Commonwealth Crown Solicitor on 
continuous secondment to the (then) Trade Practices 
Commission and occasional secondment to an inter-
department committee responsible for containing 
product liability exposure. A decade and a half with CSR 
Limited devising and implementing product liability 
defence and asset protection strategies in Australia, 
New Zealand and the US. Five years managing relations 
for a Northern Ireland based energy start-up Company 
with governments and regulators based in Belfast, 
Westminster and Brussels. The last decade devising and 
implementing competition law and product liability 
related governance and training programs for 
companies in Australia, New Zealand and Europe 
involved in the building materials, steel products, 
recycling and equipment sectors and a Government 
trading venture in Australia.  

He sits on boards of emerging listed and unlisted 
Australian companies engaged in the energy, 
exploration, technology, minerals and oil & gas 
exploration sectors in Australia. 

Ian retired as a Director 3 December 2012 

David Leslie Hawley 

Age 66 

Non Executive Director 

BA (Hons), GradDip EnvSt, FAIE, MAIG, 
MAusIMM, MEPLA of NSW, MAWA, MGSA 

David has had over 40 years experience in the energy 
and minerals exploration industry, with 18 years as a 
listed resource company director and 18 years as a 
uranium geologist. He is also a director of Granite 
Power Limited. 

David was appointed as a Director on 31 January 2005 
and is a member of the Audit Committee. 

Other listed company Directorships held during past 3 
years:  Nil 

David retired as a Director  30 June 2012. 
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2. Company Secretary 

Graham Seppelt 

Mr Graham Seppelt was appointed as Secretary on 1 December 2009.  

Mr Seppelt has had extensive experience as a contract accountant and in corporate advisory roles. He is 
currently company secretary for Legend Corporation Limited, BSA Limited, Mesbon China Nylon Limited and 
Australian Zircon NL. 

3. Company particulars 

UXA is incorporated in Australia.  The address of the registered office and principal place of business is: 

20 Oborn Road 

Mt Barker 

SA 5251 

Australia 

Phone:  +61 8 8363 7970   

Fax:  +61 8  8363 7963  

Email:  info@uxa.com.au 

Web:  www.uxa.com.au 

4. Principal activities 

UXA Resources Limited (ASX:UXA) is a diversified explorer that has assembled a pipeline of prospective 
tenements throughout Australia, all located within world class mining provinces and near existing 
infrastructure. UXA also owns GAA Wireline an independently managed borehole wireline logging company 
operating in Australia and the United States of America. 

The company has a three-pronged strategy to deliver growth and increase shareholder value, via: 

1. Development of its flagship assets, Mundi Plains zinc-lead-silver project in NSW and SA, 
Commonwealth Hill gold project in South Australia and the Nabarlek uranium  project in NT; 

2. Selling its non-core exploration tenements to Straits Resources Ltd; and  

3. Selling the wireline businesses located in the USA (since sold) and Australia. 

 

As a testament to the quality of UXA’s exploration portfolio, the company has attracted several highly 
regarded strategic partners from among the world’s renowned and prominent resources companies, 
including Reliance Industries of India, and Teck Resources of Canada, as well as ASX-listed Straits Resources.  
These partners provide additional capital, scope and expertise to accelerate UXA’s major exploration 
programs.  

5. Review and result of operations and state of affairs 

The loss after income tax amounted to $8,221,422 (2011: $3,608,614). 

During the year ended 30 June 2012, 323,147,309 ordinary shares were issued at a weighted average price of 
0.67 cents per share, totalling $2 million less issues costs of $0.1 million. These funds were raised by the issue 
of convertible notes, Rights Issue to existing shareholders and a share placement to the Australian Special 
Opportunity Fund.  Subsequent to year end, the company placed 62,300,000 shares at an average price of 
0.15 cents per share.  
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    5. Review and result of operations and state of affairs (continued) 

The Australian based borehole logging business made significant revenue and profitability improvements over 
FY2011. Results were still adversely affected by prolonged adverse weather in Queensland which impacted 
many clients’ drilling programs.  Further information is included in the Review of Operations set out in the 
Annual Report. Subsequent to year end, the borehole logging business in Australia (as with mining services 
generally) experienced a significant downturn in the market for their services. This refocussed UXA’s efforts 
back to exploration which resulted in the process now in  hand to sell non-core tenement holdings and the 
borehole logging businesses. 

Subsequent to year end, a contract for sale of the US wireline logging business for USD350,000 has been 
accepted subject to shareholder approval. The sale of the minority interest in the Stuart Shelf copper-gold 
tenements in South Australia was also negotiated for $375,000.   

Basis of preparation of financial statements 

As described in Note 2 to the financial statements and section 7 below, the Group intends to complete the 
orderly realisation of assets, settlement of liabilities and refinancing of the business in order to have sufficient 
funds to focus on exploration and development opportunities. As there was significant uncertainty as to the 
Group’s ability to meet it’s ongoing operating and financing commitments at 30 June 12, the Directors have 
not prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis but rather an alternate basis representing a 
planned orderly realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities. 

6. Dividends 

No dividends were paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial year and no 
dividend is recommended for the current year (2011: nil). 

7. Events subsequent to reporting date 

The Group has: 

 Negotiated a moratorium until 15 February 2013 with La Jolla Cove relating to the breach in its 
convertible note agreement. 

 Breached one of its debt covenants in relation to its secured bank loans and received a letter of 
waiver from the National Australia Bank (NAB). Agreement has been reach with NAB to defer future 
hire purchase payments until 31 March 2013. The debt is to be repaid in full on sale of the logging 
business.  

 Had its shares suspended from quotation on the Australian Securities Exchange for not lodging its 
financial statements by the due date.  

 Received a default notice from Australian Special Opportunity Fund for failing to lodge its financial 
statements with the ASX on time and subsequently being suspended from quotation.  The default has 
been remedied providing UXA ends its current suspension from trading by 13 February 2013. 

 Accepted an offer to sell the business and assets of the Geoscience Services USA, Inc for a cash offer 
of US$350,000 and assumption of the US debt by the acquirer, subject to shareholder approval. 

 Accepted an offer to sell non-core SA exploration tenements to Straits Resources for an all cash offer 
of $375,000. 

 Announced that it intends to sell the Australian wireline logging business and the PFN technology.  
This sale process is currently underway. 

 Announced in December 2012 a Rights Issue to shareholders, which was subsequently withdrawn 
following consultation with ASIC until UXA ends its trading suspension with ASX.  

 Announced the resignation of long serving director Ian Mutton in December 2012 and the Company’s 
Managing Director, Dr Russell Penney effective in June 2013. 

 Appointed Simon Powell as General Manager effective 24 December 2012. 
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7. Events subsequent to reporting date (continued) 

Other than the matters discussed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial 
year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the 
opinion of the Directors of UXA, to affect significantly the operations of UXA, the results of those operations, 
or the state of affairs of UXA, in future financial years. 

 

8. Likely developments 

Information on likely developments is included in the Review of Operations set out in the Annual Report.  

In summary, the following indicate likely developments in the forthcoming year: 

UXA has undertaken a strategic review of operations and has concluded that its primary capabilities lie in the 
field of exploration and development of resource opportunities both in Australia and Overseas. Concentration 
will be in the following directions:  

Northern Territory 

UXA will continue to explore for unconformity style uranium mineralisation in joint venture with Reliance 
Industries Limited of India in the Alligator Rivers Uranium Field which has a rich uranium endowment in an 
under explored region where there are still high value resources waiting to be discovered. 

South Australia 

The Commonwealth Hill tenement is a drill ready gold prospect (only 10km away from the successful 
Challenger gold deposit) since much of the target delineation was completed by previous explorers. UXA is 
expecting some positive results on its maiden drilling campaign. 

New South Wales/South Australia 

UXA is exploring its Mundi Plains – Junction Dam tenements in an Option Agreement with TECK, Canada’s 
largest mining company for Pb‐ Zn‐Ag and Cu‐Au mineralisation. 

Several targets have been delineated at Mammoth and Polygonum prospects and are drill ready for 
significant discovery. 

Other Resource Opportunities 

UXA’s Global Commodity Review compiled over a 5 year period has identified significant exploration, 
development and business opportunities ready to progress to the next level of resource delineation and pre-
feasibility assessment both in Australia and globally. 

9. Environmental regulation 

The Group’s project areas are located on exploration licences (“ELs”) issued by the Department of Mineral 
Resources (NSW), Department of Primary Industries South Australia (SA), Department of Industry and 
Resources (WA) and Department of Primary Industries, Fisheries and Mines (NT) and operate under 
environmental licences issued by the Environmental Protection Authority.  These licences require the 
preparation of an annual Environmental Management report as well as periodic rehabilitation reports as 
exploration proceeds. 

The Group has a statutory obligation to protect the environment in areas in which it was and is exploring. 
During the reporting period, the Group met its obligations pursuant to environmental legislation. 

10. Corporate governance statement 

The Company, through its Board and executives, recognises the need to establish and maintain corporate 
governance policies and practices, which reflect the requirements of the market regulators and participants, 
and the expectations of members and others who deal with the Company.  

These policies and practices remain under constant review as the corporate governance environment and 
good practice evolve. 
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10. Corporate governance statement (continued) 

This statement outlines the Company’s system of governance during the Financial Year and the extent of the 
Company’s compliance, as at the end of the Financial Year, by reference to the second edition of the ASX 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations with 2010 amendments and to the Corporations Act 
2001. 

As at the date of publication, the Company complies with the recommendations in all respects other than 
Recommendation 2.4, 3.2 and 3.3. 

10.1 The Board and Executive Directors 

The Board is responsible for the appointment and contract with the Managing Director. The Managing 
Director leads the organisation and develops a business strategy and budget in collaboration with the Board 
and implements them, once approved by the Board. 

The Managing Director is responsible for the internal work culture of the Company, for the employment of 
staff and consultants and for overall financial and operational management and control. The Managing 
Director is the primary spokesperson for UXA and the lead person in its key relationships with Government, 
ASX and other organizations whilst focusing on the management of exploration programs, technical reporting 
and any future joint ventures and commercial opportunities. 

Under the Constitution of the Company, the Directors may confer upon the Managing Director any of the 
powers exercisable by the Directors upon such terms and conditions and with any restrictions as they see fit. 
Likewise, the Directors may at any time revoke, withdraw, alter or vary all or any of those powers. The Board 
determines the performance goals and remuneration of the Managing Director.  

10.2 Meetings of Directors 

The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Company's Directors during the year ended 30 
June 2012 and the number of meetings attended by each Director 

 Board Meetings 
Audit Committee 

Meetings 

Remuneration & 
Nomination 

Committee Meetings 

 Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended 

Neill Arthur  15 14 - - 1 1 

David Hawley 15 13 4 4 1 1 

Stephen Gemell 7 6 1 1 - - 

Ian Mutton 15 13 4 4 1 1 

Russell Penney 15 15 - - 1 1 

Scott McKay 4 4 - - - - 

David Sutich 4 4 - - - - 
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10.3 Share options 

Options issued/exercised/expired in the current financial year 

5,000,000 options were issued during the year to Australian Special Opportunity Fund (ASOF) as a 
Commencement Fee under the funding agreement dated 12 April 2012.  The agreement provides up to $7.55 
million of funding via monthly tranches of a minimum of $100,000 & up to $300,000 by mutual consent.  
Immediate funding of $550,000 was provided via a share placement of $50,000 and a convertible note of 
$500,000.  The Group is presently restricted from drawing down under the ASOF agreement due to the La 
Jolla breach. 

There were no unlisted options granted to employees,  under an approved Employee Share Option Plan 
(ESOP).  660,000 ESOP options expired during the year.  The issued options have exercise prices as follows: 

Total outstanding options at the date of this report: 

* These options vest with employees 50% after one year’s continuous service and the remaining 50% vesting 
after 2 years continuous service with the Company and lapse 3 months after termination of employment. 

** These options expired on 7 October 2012 without any being exercised. 

 

10.4 Non-audit services 

During the year KPMG, the Group’s auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to their 
statutory duties.  Any non-audit services are referred to the Chairman of the Audit Committee for approval. 
The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and is satisfied 
that the provision of those non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not 
compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following 
reasons: 

 all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company 
to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 

 the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence 
as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or 
auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the Company, 
acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 

 

 

Unlisted options Exercisable at 0.899 cents on or before 12 April 2015 5,000,000 

TOTAL  5,000,000 

Unlisted options Exercisable at 20 cents on or before 4 December 2014 9,500,000 

Unlisted options * Exercisable at 20 cents on or before 19 February 2013 2,070,000 

Unlisted options * Exercisable at 20 cents on or before 30 June 2013 1,350,000 

Unlisted options ** Exercisable at 4 cents on or before 7 October 2012 3,075,000 

Unlisted options Exercisable at 0.899 cents on or before 12 April 2015 5,000,000 

TOTAL UNLISTED OPTIONS 20,995,000 
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10. Corporate governance statement (continued) 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for audit and non-audit services provided during the 
year are set out below. 

Audit services 
2012 2011 

$ $ 

Remuneration for audit and review of financial 
reports under the Corporations Act 2001 

73,000 71,500 

 

Non-audit services 
2012 2011 

$ $ 

Research and development tax related services 9,358 13,500 
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10.5 Remuneration report - Audited 

10.5.1  Principles of compensation  

The Chairman, Managing Director and the non-executive Directors together have the authority and 
responsibility for directing and controlling the activities of the Company and are therefore considered key 
management personnel.  The Company Secretary is also considered key management personnel. The 
Company has not appointed any other key management personnel apart from the promotion of Simon Powell 
to General Manager who participates in making decisions affecting the whole or a substantial part of the 
business of the Company or its financial standing. 

Remuneration levels of the Board and Managing Director are approved by the Board.  In doing so, the Board 
seeks to retain the professional services of Directors as it requires, at reasonable market rates, and seeks 
external advice and market comparisons where necessary. The Board has not engaged the services of any 
remuneration consultants for the year ended 30 June 2012.   

 

The Board delegates the review and determination of appropriate remuneration levels of staff to the 
Managing Director.   

 

Remuneration of the Managing Director and staff is determined with reference to prevailing industry 
standards and is set with the aim of attracting and retaining the best possible calibre of employees.  

 

The Managing Director entered into an Employment Agreement (variation to existing agreement) with the 
Company dated 24 March 2011 at a salary of $325,000 (inclusive of superannuation).  In addition, 3 million 
shares will be issued if the UXA share price exceeds 10 cents for ten consecutive trading days (vesting 50% on 
award and 50% in 12 months time) plus a Discovery Bonus equal to 20% of the fixed remuneration 
component (comprising 50% cash and 50% shares calculated at the date of issue) for the discovery of inferred 
resources. The Agreement has no fixed term and may be terminated by either party on six months written 
notice.  There are no additional termination payments provided for under the Agreement. On 14 December 
2012, the Managing Director tendered his resignation, effective from 14 June 2013. 

Non-executive Directors are each paid a fee, totalling $40,000 plus a $6,000 committee fee per annum 
(exclusive of superannuation) and the non-executive Chairman is paid $60,000 plus $6,000 committee fee.  
Executive Directors are not paid Directors’ fees.  No performance-based bonuses or option-based 
remuneration was made to non-executive Directors.  Members of the Audit Committee are paid an additional 
fee of $5,000 per annum (exclusive of GST or superannuation). 

The total of all non-executive Directors’ fees, exclusive of consulting fees, GST or superannuation, in any one 
financial year will not exceed $300,000 without approval by the Members. The level of individual non-
executive Director’s fees within the approved total is determined by the Board. Upon retirement, a non-
executive director may be entitled to a retirement benefit based on their total fees over the prior three years 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001.  In due course, one or more of the Directors may become 
salaried employees, depending on the way in which the activities of UXA develop. In the event that such 
Director(s) become salaried employees, their remuneration will be inclusive of any Directors’ fees. 
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10.5.2 Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration 

Directors  

2012 

($) 

Short-term Post - employment 
Share –
based 

payments 

 

TOTAL 
Value of 

options as 
proport-

ion of 
remuner-
ation (%) 

Salary 
Fees 
and 

comms 

 

Total 

Super-
annuation 
benefits 

Long 
Service 
Leave 

Retire-
ment 

Benefit 
Options 

 

N Arthur 66,000 5,820 71,820 5,940   - 77,760 - 

R Penney 298,165 - 298,165 26,835 3,335  - 328,335 - 

S Gemell 26,000 - 26,000 2,340  40,000 -  68,340 - 

D Hawley 46,000 - 46,000 4,140   - 50,140 - 

I Mutton 46,000 - 46,000 4,140   - 50,140 - 

S McKay 10,308 - 10,308 928 - - - 11,236 - 

D Sutich 10,308 - 10,308 928 - - - 11,236 - 

Total 502,781 5,820 508,601 45,251 3,335 40,000 - 597,187 - 

 
The retirement benefit for S Gemell was calculated as the average of his previous three years director’s fees 
paid. 

Key Management Personnel 

 

2012 

($) 

Short-term Post - employment 
Share – 
based 

payments 
TOTAL 

Value of 
options as 
proportio

n of 
remuner-
ation (%) 

Salary 
Fees / 

Comms 
 

Total 

Super-
annuation 
benefits 

Long 
Service 
Leave 

Options 

S Powell  

Senior 
Geologist 

194,337 - 194,337 17,490 1,071 - 212,898 - 

A White 

Chief Financial 
Officer 

183,486 - 183,486 16,514 2,052 - 202,052 - 

D Quinn 

CEO 

Geoscience 

175,000 - 175,000 16,176 2,703 89 193,968 - 

G Seppelt 
Company 
Secretary 

- 41,150 41,150 - 
 

- - 41,150 - 

Total 552,823 41,150 593,973 50,180 5,826 89 650,068 - 
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Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration 

2011 

($) 

Short-term Post - employment 
Share –
based 

payments 

 

TOTAL 
Value of 

options as 
proport-

ion of 
remuner-
ation (%) 

Salary 
Fees 
and 

comms 

 

Total 

Super-
annuation 
benefits 

Long 
Service 
Leave 

Retire-
ment 

Benefit 
Options 

 

N Arthur 66,000 2,700 68,700 5,940   - 74,640 - 

R Penney 256,241 - 256,241 38,759 1,682  4,102 300,784 1.4 

B Dawes 16,667 - 16,667 1,500  32,500 - 50,667 - 

S Gemell 46,000 - 46,000 4,140   - 50,140 - 

D Hawley 36,000 - 36,000 14,140   - 50,140 - 

I Mutton 46,000 - 46,000 4,140   - 50,140 - 

S McKay          

D Sutich          

Total 466,908 2,700 469,608 68,619 1,682 32,500 4,102 576,511 - 

The fees / commissions consist of travel costs to attend seminars, commission on equity raising and 
consultancy fees. 

Other Key Management Personnel 

 

2011 

($) 

Short-term Post - employment 
Share – 
based 

payments 
TOTAL 

Value of 
options as 
proportio

n of 
remuner-
ation (%) 

Salary 
Fees / 

Comms 
 

Total 

Super-
annuation 
benefits 

Long 
Service 
Leave 

Options 

S Powell 

Senior 
Geologist 

180,981 - 180,981 25,322 3,251 - 209,554 - 

A White 

Chief Financial 
Officer 

169,534 - 169,534 15,258 1,035 5,330 191,157 2.8 

D Quinn 

CEO 

Geoscience 

164,992 - 164,992 14,869 242 4,280 184,383 2.3 

G Seppelt 
Company 
Secretary 

- 33,000 33,000 - 
 

- 33,000 - 

Total 515,507 33,000 548,507 55,449 4,528 9,610 618,094 - 
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10.5.3  Options granted as part of remuneration  

There were no options granted to Directors during the year. There were no bonuses paid to the Directors 
during the year. The number of options is determined according to the relative performance of the 
Company’s shares against a basket of uranium explorer shares (to be determined) over the year prior to the 
anniversary date. There is no performance criteria for the issue of options to non-executive directors. 

10.5.4  Performance income as a proportion of total remuneration 

No performance-based bonuses have been paid to Directors or executives during the financial year. It is the 
intent of the Board to include performance bonuses as part of remuneration packages in the future. 

10.5.5  Directors’ Interests 

Ordinary shares 

 Held at 

1 July 2011 
Purchases 

Received on 
exercise of 

options 
Sales 

Held at 

30 June 2012 

N Arthur 2,414,286 3,404,795 - - 5,819,081 

R Penney 1,220,000 4,596,768 - - 5,816,768 

S Gemell 1,000,000  - 1,000,000 - 

D Hawley 9,850,000 50,320 - - 9,900,320 

I Mutton 114,286               -              - 114,286 

S McKay - 3,739,726 - 1,369,863 2,369,863 

D Sutich - 3,739,726 - 1,369,863 2,369,863 

Total 14,598,572 15,531,335 - 3,739,726 26,390,181 

Options over ordinary shares 

 Held at 

1 July 2011 

Granted as 
compen-

sation 

Exercised/ 
Lapsed/ 

Purchased 

Held at 30 
June 2012 

Vested 
during the 

year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
30 June 2012 

N Arthur 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 

S Gemell 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 

D Hawley 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 

I Mutton 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 

R Penney 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 

Total 7,500,000 - - 7,500,000 - 7,500,000 
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Consequences of performance on shareholder wealth 

In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the remuneration committee 
have regard to the following indices in respect of the current financial year and the previous five financial 
years. 

 2012 
$’000 

2011 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

2008 
$’000 

2007 
$’000 

Loss attributable to owners of the 
Company 

8,221 3,608   6,173 5,928 3,080 1,728 

Basic loss per share (cents) 1.8 1 3 7 3 3 

Diluted loss per share (cents) 1.8 1 3 7 3 3 

10.6 Diversity 

The board recognizes that it is appropriate to have gender diversity throughout the company to assist in 
balancing overall priorities and skills for the company as a whole. 

The Group values an inclusive culture where all people are able to succeed to the best of their ability. These 
principles also guide our employees’ conduct in all their dealings with stakeholders of the Company. Diversity 
is regarded as a key factor in enabling the Company to attract the broadest range of talent in the market 
when positions become vacant. 

Our commitment to diversity requires that we work to ensure an environment which is supportive of equality 
and access for all our staff to career opportunities, development, remuneration and benefits. 

However, because of the very small size of the workforce within the company, UXA considers applicants for 
each vacant position on merit, skill and aptitude for the role required rather than being conscious of a target 
for various classes of diversity, including gender. As a result, the company has not set targets for any of the 
multiple opportunities for diversity. 

 

11. Directors’ and Officers’ indemnification 

During the financial year, the Group paid premiums to insure the Directors and Officers of UXA. 
UXA has agreed to indemnify and keep indemnified the Directors and Officers of UXA against all liabilities 
incurred by the Directors or Officers as a Director or Officer of UXA and all legal expenses incurred by the 
Directors or Officers as a Director or Officer of UXA. 
The indemnity applies to the extent and in the amount that the Directors or Officers are not indemnified 
under any other indemnity, including an indemnity contained in any insurance policy taken out by UXA, under 
the general law or otherwise. 
The indemnity does not extend to any liability: 

 to UXA or a related body corporate of UXA; or 

 arising out of conduct of the Directors or Officers involving a lack of good faith; or 

 which was incurred prior to January 2005 and which is in respect of any negligence, default, breach of 
duty or breach of trust of which the Directors or Officers may be guilty in relation to UXA or related 
body corporate. 

 

12. Proceedings on behalf of UXA 

No person has applied for leave of Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 to bring proceedings 
on behalf of UXA or intervene in any proceedings to which UXA is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of UXA for all or any part of those proceedings. 

UXA was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 
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13. Lead auditor’s independence declaration 
The  lead auditor’s  independence declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001  is set out on 
page 41 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2012. 
 

14. Rounding off 
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with 
that Class Order, amounts in the financial report and Directors’ Report have been rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
 
This Report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 

Neill F Arthur 
Director 
11 February 2013 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2012 

In thousands of AUD Note 2012  2011 

Revenue     
Logging revenue  4,564 

 
 3,418 

Total revenue  4,564  3,418 

     
Other income 5 565  491 

     
Operating Costs     

Professional fees  (478) 
 

 (487) 

ASX/ registry expenses  (34) 
 

 (33) 
Depreciation expense  (1,067) 

 
 (844) 

Impairment expense 29 (4,379)  -  
Printing & communications  (141)  (130) 

Insurance  (243)  (252) 
Employee related expenses  (4,243)  (3,849) 
Advertising/ promotions expenses  (51)  (69) 

Travel  (639)  (377) 
Office expenses  (314)  (293) 
Exploration expenditure written off 17 (276)  (402) 

Share options expense  (40)  (16) 

Conversion option expense  (608)  - 
Other expenses  (717)  (802) 

Total expenses  (13,230)  (7,554) 
     

Loss from operating activities  (8,101)  (3,645) 
     
Interest income  61  111 

Interest expense  (275)  (204) 

Net finance costs  (214)  (93) 

     
Loss before income tax  (8,315)  (3,738) 

Income tax benefit 10 94  130 

Loss for the period  (8,221)  (3,608) 

Other comprehensive income  158  - 

Total comprehensive loss  (8,063)  (3,608) 

     
  Cents  Cents 

Basic loss per share 31 (1.8)  (1) 

Diluted loss per share 31 (1.8)  (1) 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the notes 
to the financial statements set out on pages 46 to 81. 
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In thousands of AUD Note 2012  2011 

     

Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents  
(includes partially restricted cash $0.5m) 

11 932 
 

2,495 

Trade and other receivables 12 1,023            737 

Inventories 13 100  92 

Prepayments 14 9  - 

Property, plant and equipment 15 3,070  4,843 

Exploration and evaluation assets 17 2,777  1,644 

Other assets 18 91  161 

Intangible assets 16 -  3,180 

TOTAL ASSETS                 8,002  13,152 

     
Liabilities     

Trade and other payables 19 1,016  1,024 

Employee Entitlements 20 332  192 

Loans and borrowings - Secured 27 1,259              1,119 

Loans and borrowings – Convertible Notes 27 2,003  1,030 

Deferred income 5 848          1,282 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  5,458  4,647 

NET ASSETS  2,544  8,505 

     

Equity     

Share capital 21 30,424  28,362 

Reserves 22 1,452  1,254 

Accumulated losses  (29,332)       (21,111) 

TOTAL EQUITY  2,544          8,505 

 
 
 
 
The consolidated balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements 
set out on pages 46 to 81. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2012 
   

In thousands of AUD Note 2012 
 

2011 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Receipts from customers  4,354  3,687 

Cash payments to suppliers and employees  (6,372)  (5,612) 

Interest received  61  111 

Interest paid  (275)  (167) 

Net cash used in operating activities 25 (2,232)  (1,981) 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Payments for exploration and evaluation 
expenditure 

17 (1,409)  (1,709) 

Payments for property, plant & equipment  (551)  (135) 

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  109  90 

Acquisition of subsidiary 30 -  (1,878) 

Refund / (payment) of bonds/ term deposits  70  122 
 

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,781)  (3,510) 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Net proceeds from issue of share capital  582  5,873 

Proceeds from borrowings 27 327  158 

Proceeds from convertible notes 27 2,758  - 

Repayment of borrowings 27 (1,217)  (645) 

Net cash from financing activities  2,450  5,386 

     

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (1,563)  (105) 

     
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July   2,495  2,600 

     
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June  
(including partially restricted cash $0.5m) 

11 932 
 

2,495 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements set out on pages 46 to 81. 
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Issued 

Capital 

Accumulated 

Losses 
Reserves Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

     

Balance at 1 July 2011 28,362 (21,111) 1,254 8,505 

Total comprehensive loss for the period     

Loss - (8,221) - (8,221) 

Other comprehensive income     

Total other comprehensive income - - 158 158 

Total comprehensive loss for the period - (8,221) 158 (8,063) 

Transaction with owners, recorded directly in equity    

Contributions by and distributions to owners     

Fair value of equity issued – Rights Issue / SPP 582 - - 582 

Fair value of equity issued – Convertible Notes 1,384 - - 1,384 

Fair value of equity issued – Placement 195 - - 195 

Share issues costs (99) - - (99) 

Fair value of options granted - - 40 40 

Total contributions by and distributions to owners 2,062 - 40 2,102 

Balance as at 30 June 2012 30,424 (29,332) 1,452 2,544 

Balance at 1 July 2010 22,489 (17,503) 1,160 6,146 

Total comprehensive loss for the period     

Loss - (3,608) - (3,608) 

Other comprehensive income     

Total other comprehensive income - - 26 26 

Total comprehensive loss for the period - (3,608) 26 (3,582) 

Transaction with owners, recorded directly in equity 

Contributions by and distributions to owners     

Fair value of equity issued 6,339 - - 6,339 

Share issues costs (466) - - (466) 

Fair value of options granted - - 68 68 

Total contributions by and distributions to owners 5,873 - 68 5,941 

Balance as at 30 June 2011 28,362 (21,111) 1,254 8,505 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to the 
financial statements set out on pages 46 to 81. 
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1. Reporting entity 

UXA Resources Limited (UXA) is a company domiciled in Australia.  The address of UXA’s registered 
office is 20 Oborn Road Mount Barker SA 5251 . The consolidated financial statements of the Company 
as at and for the year ended 30 June 2012 comprise UXA Resources Limited and its subsidiaries, 
Geoscience Associates Australia Pty Ltd, Geoinstruments International Pty Ltd and Geoscience Services 
USA, Inc. together referred to as the ‘Group’ and individually as ‘Group entities.’ 

2. Basis of preparation 

(a)  Alternate basis of preparation 

Based on current forecasts and existing financing arrangements,  there is significant uncertainty 
as to the Group’s ability to meet its ongoing operating and financing commitments over the 
foreseeable future without asset sales and raising further capital. Consequently, the financial 
statements have not been prepared on a going concern basis but rather have been prepared 
on an alternate basis representing a planned orderly realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities. 

As at 30 June 2012 the Group had accumulated losses of $29 million, net assets of $2.5 million. 
In addition, the Group had operating cash outflows of $2.2m for the year with cash and cash 
equivalents of $0.4 million at 30 June 2012 (excluding $0.5 million of restricted cash relating to 
the UXA-RILA joint venture).   

Subsequent to balance date, the Group has breached its loan covenants with all of its lenders 
and been suspended from trading on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX).  Arrangements have 
been negotiated with the financiers to enable the Group to progress its plans for asset sales, a 
rights issue and to have the ASX suspension lifted.  

(i) Basis of accounting 

The basis of accounting adopted by the Group in the preparation of its financial statements 
continues to apply the requirements of Australian Accounting Standards taking into account 
that the Group is not expected to continue as a going concern in its present form in the 
foreseeable future.  

As the property, plant and equipment, exploration and evaluation assets and intangible assets 
do not meet the requirements for held for sale or discontinued operations under AASB 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, they continue to be recognised  at 
cost, less impairment losses. However, the adoption of the alternate basis of accounting 
representing a planned orderly realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities has resulted in 
a change in the method of assessing the recoverable value of certain intangible and non-
monetary assets which has required impairments in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of 
Assets (refer Note 29). The carrying value of assets at 30 June 2012 reflects the Directors 
assessment of recoverable value (or amortised cost if lower than recoverable value) based on 
fair value less costs to sell.  

However, certain significant events have arisen subsequent to 30 June 2012 (refer Note 33) 
which will require further impairments to be recognised. These further impairments have not 
been recognised in the carrying value of assets at 30 June 2012 as the events are considered to 
be ‘non-adjusting events’ in accordance with AASB 110 Events after the Reporting Date.   

Loans and borrowings – convertible notes continue to be expected to be settled 12 months 
after the reporting date as events that cause the Group to be in breach of the loan covenants 
occurred subsequent to year end and the Group has secured a waiver of the breach conditions 
provided that UXA recommences trading on the ASX before 13 February 2013.  
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

No additional provisions or liabilities have been recognised as a result of adopting the alternate 
basis of accounting as the Directors have not incurred any additional legal or contractual 
obligations.  

Given the uncertainties in valuing assets and liabilities as the Group commences a planned 
orderly realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, it is likely that the valuation of assets 
and liabilities included in these financial statements may differ from actual results. 

(ii) Orderly realisation of assets, settlement of liabilities and restructure of the 
business 

The Directors have completed a strategic review of the business and propose to divest the 
borehole logging business (in Australia and USA) and non-core tenements.  

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period the USA logging business has been sold, subject 
to shareholder agreement, for US$350,000 cash and the assumption of the US debt.  The sale is 
expected to be finalised in March 2013. The sale of these assets will require a further 
impairment of $0.3m to be recognised in the 2013 financial statements.   

The sale of the Australian wireline logging business and the PFN Technology is currently 
underway. The carrying value at 30 June 2012 reflects the Directors’ view of the fair value of 
these assets.  

The Company executed a contract with Straits Resources in December 2012 to sell its Stuart 
Shelf tenements for $375,000 cash. The proceeds from the sale were received in early February 
2013. A gain on sale is expected to be realised on completion.  

The sale of these assets will allow UXA to focus on mineral exploration at its flagship zinc, lead 
and silver exploration project at Mundi Plains.  It is the intention of the Directors to continue to 
explore the Group’s areas of interest for which rights of tenure are current. The Group will fund 
its projects through a combination of existing cash, joint venture arrangements, sale of assets 
and access to the equity and or debt markets. 

The Group is actively pursuing equity and or debt arrangements to adequately finance the 
Group’s plans and the Directors will take the appropriate action to ensure these funds are 
available as and when they are required.  

(iii) Arrangements with financiers 

In June 2012, the Group breached one of its debt covenants in relation to its secured bank 
loans and received a letter of waiver from the National Australia Bank (NAB). Subsequent to 
balance date, agreement has been reached with NAB to defer future hire purchase payments 
until  31 March 2013. The debt is to be repaid in full on sale of the logging business. 

In August 2012, the Group was in breach of its convertible note agreement with La Jolla Cove 
Investors Inc. The agreement provides for an event of default in certain circumstances including 
when the average UXA volume weighted average price (VWAP) is below $0.0034 for 3 
consecutive trading days.  If in default, amounts becomes due and payable at 120%.  The Group 
has negotiated a moratorium with La Jolla that reduces the floor price from $0.0034 to 
$0.0015, and waives all events of default on the condition that UXA recommences trading on 
the ASX by 15 February 2013. 

In October 2012, the Group was in breach of its convertible note loan agreement with 
Australian Special Opportunity Fund as the Group was suspended from trading on the ASX. The 
Group has secured a waiver of the breach on the condition that UXA recommences trading on 
the ASX by 13 February 2013. 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

(b) Statement of compliance 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (“AASBs”) (including Australian 
Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”) and the 
Corporations Act 2001.  The financial report also complies with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Interpretations adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 11 February 2013. 

The Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in 
accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the financial report and directors’ report have 
been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

(c) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. 

(d) Functional and presentation currency 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company and its Australian 
subsidiaries’ functional currency.  Geoscience Services USA, Inc. has its functional currency as 
United States dollars. 

(e) Use of estimates and judgement 

The preparation of a financial report requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.   

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any 
future periods affected. 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of 
resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following 
notes: 

Note 2(a)  –  Alternate basis of accounting representing a planned orderly realisation of assets 
and settlement of liabilities 

Note 10  –  Tax loss recoupment 

Note 16  –  Intangible assets 

Note 17  –  Recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets 

Note 21  –  Share based payments 

Note 29  –  Impairment testing of goodwill 
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3. Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in the financial report. 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

(i) Business combinations 

For every business combination, the Group identifies the acquirer, which is the 
combining entity that obtains control of the other combining entities or businesses. 
Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities.  In assessing control, the Group takes into 
consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable. The acquisition 
date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. Judgement is applied 
in determining the acquisition date and determining whether control is transferred 
from one party to another. 

(ii) Measuring goodwill 

The Group measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred, less 
the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acquisition date.  

Consideration transferred includes the fair values of the assets transferred, liabilities 
incurred by the Group to the previous owners of the acquiree, and equity interests 
issued by the Group. Consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any 
contingent consideration and share-based payment awards of the acquiree that are 
replaced mandatorily in the business combination. 

(iii) Transaction costs 
Transaction costs that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination, 
such as finder’s fees, legal fees, due diligence fees, and other professional and 
consulting fees, are expensed as incurred. 

(iv) Subsidiaries 
 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  The financial statements of 
 subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
 control commences until the date that control ceases.  The accounting policies of 
 subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies 
 adopted by the Group. 
(v) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses 
arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.  Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity 
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the investee.  Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

 

Gains and losses are recognised when the contributed assets are consumed or sold 
by the equity accounted investees or, if not consumed or sold by the equity 
accounted investee, when the Group’s interest in such entities is disposed of. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Net finance costs 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as 
it accrues, using the effective interest method.  

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings. All borrowing costs are recognised 
in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

(c) Goods and services tax 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax 
(GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian 
Taxation Office (ATO).  In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  Receivables and payables are 
stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset 
or liability in the balance sheet. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST components 
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. 

 (d) Taxation 

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes.  Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries and associates and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that 
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  In addition, deferred tax is not recognised for 
taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.   

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Share capital 

Ordinary shares 

Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of ordinary shares and share options are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit. 

(f) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  The cost of inventories 
is based on the first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the 
inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their 
existing location and condition. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 

(g) Property, plant and equipment 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses recognised.  

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost 
of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the 
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised 
as part of that equipment. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by 
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the item and are recognised 
within Other Income in profit and loss 

Subsequent costs  

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the 
carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within 
the part will flow to UXA and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day 
servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation  

All plant and equipment have limited useful lives and are depreciated using the straight line 
method over their estimated useful lives. Assets are depreciated from the date they are 
available for use. 

Depreciation rates, residual values and methods are reviewed annually for appropriateness.  
When changes are made, adjustments are reflected prospectively in current and future periods 
only.  Depreciation is expensed, except to the extent that it is included in the carrying amount 
of another asset as an allocation of production overheads.  The estimated useful life used for 
plant and equipment (office furniture and equipment and computer hardware) is three years. 
The estimated useful life for vehicles and tools used by the borehole logging business is five 
years and ten years respectively.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(h) Intangible assets 

(i)    Goodwill 

Subsequent measurement 

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity 
accounted investees, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount 
of the investment, and an impairment loss on such an investment is not allocated to any 
asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the equity accounted 
investee. 

(ii)    Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  The 
average useful life applied to these other intangible assets is four years. 

(iii)  Subsequent expenditures 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.  All other expenditure, including 
expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred. 

(i) Impairment 

Financial assets 

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more 
events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as 
the difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss in respect of an 
available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its current fair value. 

 

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The 
remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk 
characteristics. 

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any cumulative loss in respect of an 
available-for-sale financial asset recognised previously in equity is transferred to profit or loss. 

Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of UXA’s property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are 
reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if sufficient data exists to 
determine technical feasibility and commercial viability or facts and circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash generating unit is the smallest 
identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from the other 
assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. 
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Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units (group of units) and 
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro 
rata basis. 

Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely 
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs.  

(j) Exploration and evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring licences, initially are 
capitalised as either tangible or intangible exploration and evaluation assets on an area of 
interest basis.  When a licence is relinquished the related costs are recognised in profit or loss 
immediately.  Costs incurred before UXA has obtained the legal rights to explore an area are 
recognised in the income statement.  

Exploration and evaluation assets are only recognised if: 

i. the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and 

ii. the expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and 
exploitation of the area of interest; or 

iii. activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date, reached a stage which 
permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or other wise of economically 
recoverable reserves and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area 
of interest are continuing. 

General and administrative costs are allocated to, and included in, the cost of exploration and 
evaluation assets only to the extent that those costs can be related directly to the operational 
activities in the area of interest to which the exploration and evaluation assets relate.  In all 
other instances, these costs are expensed as incurred. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if (i) sufficient data exists to 
determine technical feasibility and commercial viability, and (ii) facts and circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount (see impairment accounting 
policy (i)).  For the purposes of impairment testing, exploration and evaluation assets are 
allocated to cash-generating units to which the exploration activity relates.  The cash 
generating unit shall not be larger than the area of interest. 

The recoverability of the carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent 
on successful development and commercial exploitation or alternatively, sale of the respective 
area of interest. 

(k) Employee benefits 

Defined contribution superannuation funds 

Obligations for contributions to superannuation funds under the Superannuation Guarantee 
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when they are due. 
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Short-term benefits 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave represent present 
obligations resulting from employees’ services provided to reporting date and are calculated at 
undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates that UXA expects to pay 
as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers compensation insurance and 
payroll tax.  Non-accumulating non-monetary benefits, such as medical care, housing, cars and 
free or subsidised goods and services, are expensed based on the net marginal cost to UXA as 
the benefits are taken by the employees. A provision is recognised for the amount expected to 
be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if UXA has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee 
and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Long-term benefits 

The Group has a provision for Long Service Leave on the basis that some employees have more 
than three years employment service.  The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-service 
leave is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in 
the current and prior periods plus related on-costs; that benefit is discounted to determine its 
present value. 

The Group will reassess the need for such a provision on an annual basis. 

(l) Share-based payments 

The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee 
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the employees 
become unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount recognised is adjusted to reflect 
the actual number of share options that vest, except for those that fail to vest due to market 
conditions not being met. 

Further details of share based payments transactions are described in Note 21. 

 (m) Earnings per share 

UXA presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary Shareholders of UXA by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary Shareholders 
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees. 

(n) Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from 
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the Group’s other components.  All operating segments’ operating 
results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Managing Director to make decisions about 
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete 
financial information is available. 

Segment results that are reported to the Managing Director include items directly attributable 
to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, 
plant and equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwill. 
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(o) Joint ventures 

The interests of the Group in unincorporated joint ventures and jointly controlled assets are 
brought to account by recognising in its financial statements its share of jointly controlled 
assets, jointly incurred liabilities and expenses and its share of income that it earns from the 
sale of goods or services by the joint venture. 

(p) Revenue and income 

Borehole logging services revenue 

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of 
completion of the transaction at the reporting date.  The stage of completion is assessed by 
reference to level of drilling work performed. 

Other Income 

Management fee revenue is recognised as the service is provided to the customer (joint 
venture partner) and is determined on the basis of expenditure by the joint venture as per the 
agreements between the joint venture parties.  

Deferred income in relation to funds received from joint venture partners, representing the 
Company’s share of future joint venture funding requirements, is recognised as income as the 
related expenditure is incurred by the joint venture.  

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, and exploration and 
evaluation assets are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying 
amount of the item and are recognised within Other Income in profit and loss. 

(q) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less.  Cash assets are 
carried at face value of the amounts deposited or drawn. 

 (r) Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are recognised at cost and carried at original invoice amount less 
allowances for impairment losses. Payments with customers of the borehole logging business 
have trading terms of 30 days from date of invoice. 

(s) Trade and other payables  

Liabilities are recognised at their amortised cost for amounts to be paid in the future for goods 
or services received.  Trade accounts payable are normally settled within 60 days. 

(t) Lease payments 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the 
total lease expense, over the term of the lease.  

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases.  On initial recognition the leased asset is measured 
at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the 
accounting policy applicable to the asset. 
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(u)  Financial instruments 

(i) Convertible notes 

Convertible notes issued by the Group are financial instruments that will or may be settled in 
the Group’s own equity instruments.  The number of equity instruments varies, on conversion, 
so that the total fair value of the equity instruments delivered is equal to the amount of the 
contractual obligation. 

The financial liability is recognised initially at fair value and subsequent to recognition, is 
measured at amortised cost. 

The related conversion option is a derivative financial instrument and as such is initially 
recognised at fair value and subsequently re-measured to fair value on each reporting date.  
Changes in fair value are recognised immediately in the income statement. 

The financial liability will be classified as current when the Group does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after reporting 
period.  Terms of a liability that could at the option of the holder, result in its settlement by 
issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification. 

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities 
category.  Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, bank overdrafts, and trade and other 
payables. 

 

(v) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for 
annual periods beginning after 1 July 2011, and have not been applied in preparing these 
financial statements. The Standards and Interpretations relevant to the Company that have not 
been early adopted are: 

 AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual 
Key Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements – applicable for annual 
reporting periods on or after 1 July 2013; 

 AASB 9 Financial Instruments  - applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2013; 

 AASB 2009-11 - Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
- applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013; 

 AASB 119 Employee Benefits – applicable for annual reporting periods on or after 1 
January 2013; 

 AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement – applicable for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013; 

 AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 – 
applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013; 

 AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 
119 (September 2011) - applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013; 
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(v) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued) 

 

 AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of 
Items of Other Comprehensive Income - applicable for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2012; 

 

The Company expects to adopt these standards and interpretations in the 2013 and 
subsequent financial years, however, the financial impact of adopting the new or amended 
standards has not yet been determined. 

4.  Financial risk management 

Overview 

 The Group has exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments: 

 credit risk 

 liquidity risk 

 market risk 

 operational risk. 

 This note presents information about Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and their management of 
capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial 
statements. 

 

Risk Management framework 

 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
risk management framework. 

 Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the 
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to 
limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in 
market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through their training and 
management standards and procedures, aim to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

 The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the 
Group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.  

Credit risk 

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s 
receivables from customers and investment securities.  For the Company it arises from 
receivables due from subsidiaries. 
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Trade and other receivables 

 The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of 
each customer. However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s 
customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers 
operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risks.  Approximately 21 per cent of 
the Group’s revenue is attributable to sales transactions with a single customer. The credit 
risk is spread over several commodity types and several geographical locations. Commodity 
spread includes iron ore, uranium, coal and coal seam gas.  Locations include South Australia, 
Queensland, Northern Territory and Texas and Wyoming in the United States of America.  
The Group’s trade and other receivables relate mainly to the Group’s logging customers. 

Liquidity risk 

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial 
asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s 
reputation. 

 Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected 
operational expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the 
potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as 
natural disasters. 

Market risk 

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest 
rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

Operational risk 

 Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes 
associated with the Group’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from 
external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal 
and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. 
Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s operations. 

 The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of 
financial losses and damage to the Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to 
avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity. 

 The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address 
operational risk is assigned to senior management. This responsibility is supported by the 
development of overall Group standards for the management of operational risk in the 
following areas: 

 requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent 
authorisation of transactions 

 requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions 

 compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements, including occupational 
health and safety requirements and national and state radiation regulations 

 documentation of controls and procedures, which includes ensuring those controls and 
procedures meet customer requirements 
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 requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy 
of controls and procedures to address the risks identified 

 requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action, 
including re-forecasting at appropriate intervals 

 training and professional development. As many of the borehole logging customers are 
remote mine sites, this includes ensuring the Group’s staff are properly inducted on all 
work sites 

 ethical and business standards 

 risk mitigation, including insurance where appropriate 

Capital management 

 The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  The Board of 
Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as result from operating 
activities divided by total shareholders’ equity, excluding non-redeemable preference shares 
and non-controlling interests.   

 There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. 

  

5. Other income 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Gain (loss) on disposal of fixed assets (9) 52 

Contributions to and management fees from RILA 
joint venture 

574 439 

 565 491 

A payment of $2.3m was received from RILA in January 2008 to acquire an ongoing 49% 
interest in the JV tenements.  Under the Joint Venture arrangements, the Company must 
undertake to apply the $2.3m in meeting its 51% share of joint venture expenditure, to the 
extent that exploration continues on the JV tenements.  For accounting purposes, the cash 
receipt has been treated as deferred income, to be recognised as income as the related 
expenditure is incurred by the joint venture.   

 

The balance of Deferred Income at 30 June 2012 is $0.8m with $0.6m being recognised as 
income for the year reflecting the expenditure incurred by UXA in relation to the JV tenements.  

 

6. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

The Group does not have any contingent assets or liabilities 
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7. Operating Segments 

During the year the Group continued with its corporate strategy to mitigate the risks of purely 
grass roots exploration through diversification of its business activities.  As a result the Group 
now operates three reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic 
business units. The strategic business units offer different services, and are managed separately 
to ensure confidentiality of client information. For each of the strategic business units, the 
Managing Director reviews internal management reports on a monthly basis. The following 
summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments: 

 Exploration: Includes Greenfields and more advanced mineral exploration activities with 
particular emphasis on uranium, base and precious metals.  The Company continually 
evaluates projects, for farm-in or outright purchase. 

 Geophysical borehole logging: Cash-generating businesses in Australia and the USA and 
includes borehole logging in the iron ore, coal, coal seam gas, uranium and geotechnical 
sectors.  The businesses hold the sole rights to the Prompt Fission Neutron tool which 
provides unique surveying services to the uranium sector. The Company considers the 
Australian and USA businesses to be two separate reportable segments. 

Information about reportable segments For the year ended 30 June 2012 

 Exploration 
Borehole 
Logging  

Aust 

Borehole 
Logging 

USA 

Elimination on 

consolidation 
TOTAL 

$’000 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 

External 
Revenues 

565 491 3,834 2,837 730 633 - - 5,129 3,909 

Inter-segment 
revenue 

389 378 317 - - - (706) (378) - - 

Depreciation 
and 
amortisation 

(94) (98) (858) (676) (115) (70) - - (1,067) (844) 

Impairment 
expense 

- - (3,303) - (1,076)  - - (4,379) - 

Interest Income 545 489 - - - - (484) (378) 61 111 

Interest Expense (48) - (657) (582) (1) - 431 378 (275) (204) 

Intercompany 
impairment 

(11,331) - 8,296 - 3,035 - - - - - 

Reportable 
segment profit/ 
(loss) before 
income tax and 
inter-company 
impairment 

(2,015) (1,051) (4,265) (1,933) (1,992) (323) (43) (171) (8,315) (3,478) 

Reportable 
segment assets 

3,850 13,697 3,330 6,817 823 1,932 (1) (9,457) 8,002 12,989 

Reportable 
segment 
liabilities 

3,417 2,183 1,932 9,596 104 2,229 5 (9,361) 5,458 4,647 
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8. Jointly controlled assets and liabilities 

The Company’s share of jointly controlled assets and liabilities in relation to the UXA-RILA Joint 
Venture at year end consists of the following amounts that have been brought to account in the 
financial statements. 

 Note 2012 

$’000 

2011  

$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents* 11 489 1,376 

Property, plant and equipment 15 1 - 

Exploration and evaluation assets 17 806 372 

Trade and other payables 19 39 51 

*cash is restricted to funding the Company’s share of joint venture exploration activity. 

9. Auditor’s remuneration 

Audit services 2012 2011 

Auditors of UXA – KPMG Australia:   

Audit and review of the financial reports 73,000 71,500 

   

Other services   

Auditors of UXA – KPMG Australia:   

Non-audit services 9,358 13,500 

10. Taxation 

 
2012 2011 

 
$'000 $'000 

Income tax expense: 
  Current tax - - 

Deferred tax -  - 

Under/(over) provision in prior years (94) (130) 

 
(94) (130) 

The prima facie tax payable on profit before 
  income tax is reconciled to the income tax 
  expense as follows: 
  Prima facie income tax payable on profit before income 

tax at 30% (2,495) (1,039) 

Add: 
  Tax effect of: 
  - other non allowable items 204 24 

- unused tax losses and tax offsets not 
  recognised as deferred tax assets 2,291 1,015 

 
- - 

Less: 
  Tax effect of 
  - R&D tax offset credit (prior year) (94) (130) 

Income Tax benefit attributable to entity (94) (130) 
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10. Taxation (continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2012 

$’000 

2011  

$’000 

Future income tax benefits not brought to account, the 
benefits of which will only be 

  realised if the conditions for recoverability set out 
  in the accounting policies note occur. 
  - Tax losses 7,989 5,698 

 
Deferred tax assets: 

  The balance comprises of temporary differences 
attributable to: 

  - Deferred income 234 385 

- Employee benefits 100 58 

- Acquisition costs 115 - 

- Business related costs 46 23 

- Non-deductible accruals 23 - 

- Tax losses 463 - 

- Set off of deferred tax balances (981) (466) 

 
- - 

 
Deferred tax liabilities 

  The balance comprises temporary differences 
  attributable to: 
  - Capitalised exploration costs 806 466 

- Share issue costs 175 - 

- Set off of deferred tax balances (981) (466) 

 
- - 

   Balance after set off of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities - - 

 
 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of tax losses or temporary 
differences because it is not yet probable as defined in AASB 112 Income Taxes that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the Group can utilise benefits from 
the tax losses and that the Company continues to meet the continuity of ownership test and 
/or same business test. 
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11. Cash and cash equivalents 

 2012 

$’000 

2011  

$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 932*       2,495 

* includes $489,000 relating to the UXA-RILA joint venture, which is restricted (refer Notes 5 and 8). 

12. Trade and other receivables 

Trade debtors         1,023             737 

 1,023 737 

13. Inventories 

Spare parts 100 92 

         100 92 

14. Prepayments 

Prepayments 9 - 

      9 - 
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15. Property, plant and equipment 

2012 $’000    

Cost                                                                 Note 
Plant & 

Equipment 
Furniture & 

Fittings 
TOTAL 

Balance at 1 July 2011 6,374 32 6,406 

Acquisitions 589 3 592 

Impairment *                                                29 (1,557) (7) (1,564) 

Disposals (159) - (159) 

Balance at 30 June 2012  5,247 28 5,275 

    

Accumulated depreciation     

Balance at 1 July 2011 1,550 13 1,563 

Depreciation charge for the year 902 5 907 

Impairment * (250) (3) (253) 

Disposals (12) - (12) 

Balance at 30 June 2012 2,190 15 2,205 

    

Carrying amounts    

At 1 July 2011 4,824 19 4,843 

At 30 June 2012 3,057 13 3,070 

* Net Impairment of $1,311 (refer to note 29) 
** Approximately $2.3m of property, plant and equipment is expected to be realised within 12 
    months, with the sale of the Australian and US wireline logging business. 

2011 $’000    

Cost 
Plant & 

Equipment 
Furniture & 

Fittings 
TOTAL 

Balance at 1 July 2010  4,815 32 4,847 

Acquisitions from business combinations 852 - 852 

Acquisitions 215 - 215 

Transfer from stock 575 - 575 

Disposals (83) - (83) 

Balance at 30 June 2011  6,374 32 6,406 

    

Accumulated depreciation     

Balance at 1 July 2011 787 9 796 

Depreciation charge for the year 776 4 780 

Disposals (13) - (13) 

Balance at 30 June 2011 1,550 13 1,563 

    

Carrying amounts    

At 1 July 2010 4,028 23 4,051 

At 30 June 2011 4,824 19 4,843 
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16. Intangible assets 

Cost $’000 Note 2012 2011 

Goodwill   

Balance at beginning of year  2,744 1,790 

Acquisitions through business combinations - 1,026 

Impairment 29 (2,796) - 

Effect of movement in exchange rate 52 (72) 

Carrying amount of goodwill at end of year  - 2,744 

   

Computer Software   

Balance at beginning of year  654 654 

Impairment                                                                      29 (272) - 

Balance at end of year  382 654 

   

Accumulated Amortisation   

Balance at beginning of year 218 54 

Amortisation charge for the year 164 164 

Balance at end of year 382 218 

   

Carrying amount of computer software at end of year - 436 

17. Exploration and evaluation 

Cost  $’000 2012 2011 

Balance at beginning of year 1,644 337 

Expenditure in the period 1,409 1,709 

Amounts written off in the period (276)        (402) 

Balance at end of year 2,777 1,644 

 

Estimates and assumptions 

Determining the recoverability of exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised in 
accordance with the group’s accounting policy (note 3(j)) requires estimates and assumptions 
as to future events and circumstances, in particular, whether successful development and 
commercial exploitation, or alternatively sale, of the respective areas of interest will be 
achieved.  Critical to this assessment is estimates and assumptions as to the mineralisation of 
the area of interest, the timing of expected cash flows, commodity prices and future capital 
requirements.  Changes in these estimates and assumptions as new information about the 
presence or recoverability of a mineral reserve becomes available may impact the assessment 
of the recoverable amount of exploration and evaluation assets. 

In the current year, exploration and evaluation expenditure written off mainly relates to the 
Myroodah, Liveringa, Dinner Camp Spring, Mudjulla and Myroodah West tenements.  The 
balance at year end includes $806,000 representing the Company’s 51% share of exploration 
and evaluation assets of the UXA-RILA joint venture (refer Note 8).  The recoverability of the 
carrying amount of $2,777,000 is dependent on the successful development and commercial 
exploitation or sale of the respective areas of interest. 
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18. Other assets 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 
Deposits paid 91 161 

 91 161 

19. Trade and other payables 

Trade payables 601 717 

Other payables and accruals 415 307 

 1,016 1,024 

20. Employee entitlements 

Liability for annual leave 286 170 

Liability for long service leave 46 22 

 332 192 

21. Share capital  

2012 No. Shares $’000 No. Options 

Balance at 1 July 2011 348,655,962 28,362 16,655,000 

Issue of ordinary shares 323,147,309 2,062 - 

Issue of ESOP options - - - 

Issue of unlisted options - - 5,000,000 

Share options exercised - - - 

Share options expired - - (660,000) 

Balance at 30 June 2012 671,803,271 30,424 20,995,000 

    

2011 No. Shares $’000 No. Options 

Balance at 1 July 2010 182,203,337 22,489 16,025,000 

Issue of ordinary shares 166,452,625 5,873 - 

Issue of ESOP options - - 3,075,000 

Share options exercised - - - 

Share options expired - - (2,445,000) 

Balance at 30 June 2011 348,655,962 28,362 16,655,000 

 

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and 
are entitled to one vote per share at Shareholder meetings.  Issued ordinary shares have a nil par 
value. 

In the event of winding up of UXA, ordinary Shareholders rank after creditors and are fully 
entitled to any proceeds of liquidation. 
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21. Share Capital (continued) 

Options issued to Employees 

There are 3,420,000 unlisted options on issue to employees under an approved Employee Share 
Option Plan. 

The options vest 50% after one year of employment and 50% after two years employment.  The 
fair value of options issued to employees was calculated at the grant date using a Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model. The value disclosed in Note 22 includes the total of the fair value of the 
options that vested in the period. 

Directors 

There were no share options issued to directors in this reporting period. 

Employees 

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of options on 
grant date:  5.75% interest rate, 150% volatility, share price 0.8 cents, strike price 20 cents, term 
3 years. On the basis of these assumptions, each one of the options exercisable at 20 cents is 
valued during this reporting period at approximately 0.03 cents. 

22. Reserves 

 2012 
$’000 

2011 
$’000 

Equity Compensation Reserve    

Balance at beginning of year  1,228 1,160 

Options expense for the year 40 68 

Balance at end of year 1,268 1,228 

   

 
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 

  

Balance at beginning of year 26 - 

Current year movements 158 26 

Balance at end of year 184 26 

 
Carrying amounts 

  

At beginning of year 1,254 1,160 

At end of year 1,452 1,254 

23. Operating leases 

Leases as lessee 
2012 

 $’000 

2011 

 $’000 

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as 
follows: Less than one year 118 211 

Between one year and five years 13 215 

 131 426 

 

Operating lease expense for the year ended 30 June 2012 was $200,180 (2011: $204,174).  Total 
rent paid for the year was $200,180. 
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24. Related parties 

Key management personnel  

The following were key management personnel of the Group at all times during the year: 

Directors  

N Arthur Chairman – Non Executive 

R Penney 
Managing Director (resigned 14 December 2012, 
effective 14 June 2013) 

I Mutton Director – Non-Executive (resigned 3 December 2012) 

S McKay Director – Non-Executive 

D Sutich Director – Non-Executive 

D Hawley Director – Non-Executive (resigned 30 June 2012) 

 

Other Key Management 
Personnel 

 

S Powell 
General Manager (appointed 24 December 2012) / 
Exploration Manager 

A White 
Chief Financial Officer (resigned 19 December 2012, 
effective 16 January 2013) 

D Quinn Chief Executive Officer, Geoscience Associates Australia 

G Seppelt Company Secretary 

Summary of compensation 

 2012 2011 

Short-term employee benefits 1,102,574 1,018,115 

Other long term benefits - - 

Post-employment benefits 144,592 162,778 

Termination benefits - - 

Share-based payments 89 13,712 

Total 1,247,255 1,194,605 

No loans were made to any key management personnel during the period.  Details of the nature 
and amount of the remuneration of each Director and other key management personnel are set 
out in the Remuneration Report.  

Short term benefits in the table above includes the following payments made for consulting and 
other services to related entities of the following Directors: 
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24. Related parties (cont.) 

Summary of compensation 

Director Transaction 2012 
$’000 

2011 
$’000 

N Arthur Professional services 6 3 

Total  6 3 

All transactions were on normal commercial terms. No other Key Management Personnel 
transactions occurred during the year. 

Options over ordinary shares 
The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in UXA 
Resources Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially, including their related parties, is as 
follows: 

 
Held at 
30 June 

2011 

Granted as 
compen- 

sation 

(Exercised/ 
Expired) 

Held at 30 
June 2012 

Vested 
during 

the year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
30 June 2012 

Directors       

N Arthur 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 

R Penney 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 

S Gemell 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 

D Hawley 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 

I Mutton 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 

Total 7,500,000 - - 7,500,000 - 7,500,000 
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24. Related parties (cont.) 

Ordinary shares  

The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in UXA Resources 
Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their 
related parties is as follows: 

 
Held at 

1 July 2011 
Purchases 

Received on 
exercise of 

options 
Sales 

Held at 
30 June 

2012 

Directors      

N Arthur 2,414,286 3,404,795 - - 5,819,081 

R Penney 1,220,000 4,596,768 - - 5,816,768 

S Gemell 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 

D Hawley 9,850,000 50,320 - - 9,900,320 

I Mutton 114,286 -              -              - 114,286 

S McKay - 3,739,726 - 1,369,863 2,369,863 

D Sutich - 3,739,726 - 1,369,863 2,369,863 

Total 14,598,572 15,531,335 - 3,739,726 26,390,181 

 

 
Held at 

1 July 2010 
Purchases 

Received on 
exercise of 

options 
Sales 

Held at 
30 June 

2011 

Directors      

N Arthur 2,179,286 235,000 - - 2,414,286 

R Penney 250,000 970,000 - - 1,220,000 

B Dawes 5,965,716 - - - 5,965,716 

S Gemell 714,286 285,714 - - 1,000,000 

D Hawley 9,850,000 - - - 9,850,000 

I Mutton      114,286 -              -              - 114,286 

Total 19,073,574 1,490,714 -              - 20,564,288 
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25. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Loss for the year (8,221) (3,608) 

 Adjustments for:   

Share based payment expense  40 16 

Share issue expense - 52 

Foreign currency translation loss 107 26 

Depreciation and amortisation 1,067 844 

Recoupment of deferred expenditure 249 
 

(341) 

Exploration expenditure written off 276 402 

Interest on Geomech loan - 37 

JV Management fees (438) (98) 

Asset impairment 4,379 - 

Convertible note valuation 608 - 

Commencement fee 125 - 

   

Operating profit/(loss) before changes in working capital 
and provisions  

(1,808) (2,670) 

   

Change in trade and other receivables (287) 217 

Change in prepayments and inventories (16) 20 

Change in trade and other payables / provisions (121) 452 

Net cash used in operating activities (2,232) (1,981) 

 

26. Financial instruments 

The Company has no financial risk arising from financial instruments, other than cash, term 
deposits, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and borrowings.  Exposure to 
credit and interest rate risks arise in the normal course of UXA’s business.  Trade payables 
($600,919) are all payable within two months.  

(a) Interest rate risk 

UXA has an exposure to future interest rates on cash and cash equivalents as a result of changes 
in market interest rates. A 1% movement in interest rates would have a $9,300 impact on profit 
and loss for the year, based on the closing level of cash held. UXA does not use derivatives to 
mitigate these exposures. The fixed rate convertible note facility held with La Jolla Cove Inc. for 
$2.5m is not exposed to fluctuations in market interest rates. 
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26. Financial instruments (continued) 

 
2012 

 
 

$’000 

Variable rate instruments  

Cash and cash equivalents 932 

Net financial assets 932 

  

Fixed rate instruments  

Secured bank loan - NAB (1,259) 

Convertible Notes – La Jolla (895) 

Net fixed rate instruments (2,154) 

 
 
2011 

 
$’000 

Variable rate instruments  

Cash and cash equivalents 2,495 

Net financial assets 2,495 

  

Fixed rate instruments  

Secured bank loan - NAB (1,758) 

Loan from Geomech Pty Ltd (392) 

Net fixed rate instruments (2,150) 

 

 

(b) Credit risk 

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security in 
respect of recognised trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents, is the carrying 
amount as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. 

 

As at 30 June 2012 $315k of the Group’s receivables were past due (2011: $138K).  The ageing of 
the Group’s receivables at the reporting date was: 

 Gross 
 $’000 

Not past due 708 

Past due 0-30 days 307 

Past due 31-120 days 8 

 1,023 
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26. Financial instruments (continued) 

While $315k of trade and other receivables are past due as at 30 June 2012, the Group does not 
consider these impaired because historically, there has been no bad debts and the receivables 
over 30 days have been collected in full. 
 

 

(c) Liquidity risk 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest 
payments: 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

 2012 $’000 
Carrying 

Amount 

Contract-

ual cash 

flows 

6 mths or 

less 

6-12 

months 
1-2 years 2-5 years 

Secured bank loans 1,259 (1,344) (476) (476) (354) (38) 

La Jolla & ASOF convertible notes 2,003 (1,395) - - (500) (895) 

Unsecured loan - - - - - - 

Trade and other payables 1,016 (1,016) (1,016) - - - 

 4,278 (3,755) (1,492) (476) (854) (933) 

 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

2011  $’000 
Carrying 

Amount 

Contract-

ual cash 

flows 

6 mths or 

less 

6-12 

months 
1-2 years 2-5 years 

Secured bank loans 1,757 (1,935) (422) (422) (1,091) - 

Unsecured loan 392 (418) - (418) - - 

Trade and other payables 1,024 (1,024) (1,024) - - - 

 3,173 (3,377) (1,446) (840) (1,091) - 

 

(d)   Fair values 

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their carrying values.   

No financial assets or financial liabilities are readily traded on organised markets.  All financial 
liabilities (payables) are expected to be settled within two months of balance date. 

 

 (e) Capital management 

The Board’s aim is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future activities and development of the Company’s business. 
The Board regularly monitors the utilisation of cash reserves and exploration and evaluation 
expenditures. 
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27. Loans and borrowings 

Current   
2012 
$’000 

2011 
$’000 

Secured bank loans – NAB   1,259 1,758 

Loan from Geomech Pty Ltd         -     392 

   1,259 2,150 

 

Non-current     

Convertible notes – La Jolla   895 - 

Convertible notes – ASOF   500 - 

Convertible notes – other liabilities   608 - 

   2,003 - 

 

TOTAL     

Secured bank loans   1,259 1,758 

Loan from Geomech Pty Ltd         -    392 

Convertible notes        2,003 - 

   3,262 2,150 
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27. Interest bearing liabilities(continued) 

Loans and Borrowings reconciliation 

In thousands of dollars 

Currency 

Interest 

rate 

nominal 

Face value 
Carrying 

amount 

Year of 

maturity 

Balance as at 1 July 2011      

Secured Bank Loan - NAB AUD 8.18% 2,700 1,616 2014 

Loan from Geomech Pty Ltd AUD 10.00% 355 392 2012 

Secured Bank Loan - NAB AUD 8.88% 159 142 2014 

New Issues      

Secured Bank Loan - NAB AUD 8.56% 253 253 2015 

Secured Bank Loan - NAB AUD 6.90% 42 42 2016 

Convertible Note – La Jolla AUD 4.50% 2,500 2,258 2016 

Convertible Note – ASOF AUD 0.00% 500 500 2014 

Interest Charge accrued      

Interest on loan - Geomech Pty Ltd    33  

Interest on convertible note facility – La Jolla   21  

Repayments      

Secured bank loan – NAB    (682)  

Secured bank loan – NAB    (112)  

Loan from Geomech Pty Ltd    (425)  

Convertible Note      

Conversion – La Jolla    (1,384)  

Convertible notes – option value     608  

Balance as at 30 June 2012    3,262  

 
 

Secured bank loan ($1.26 million as at 30 June 2012) 
The loan from National Australia Bank (NAB) to Geoscience Associates Australia Pty Ltd (GAA) is 
a finance lease facility secured against the trucks and is repayable by May 2016.  The 
agreement includes a bank covenant that requires the Group to have credit funds in cash at 
least equal to the bank debt on a quarterly basis. In June 2012, the Group breached one of its 
debt covenants in relation to its secured bank loans and received a letter of waiver from the 
National Australia Bank (NAB). Subsequent to balance date, agreement has been reach with 
NAB to defer future hire purchase payments until 31 March 2013. The debt is to be repaid in 
full on sale of the Australian wireline logging business (refer to note 33 – subsequent events). 
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27. Interest bearing liabilities(continued) 

Convertible Note – La Jolla Cove Investors Inc 
The key terms of the convertible note from La Jolla Cove Investors Inc. (La Jolla) include: 

 Total facility of AU$2.5 million, funded over 10 monthly tranches; 

 Interest rate of 4.75% p.a., paid quarterly in arrears via UXA shares or cash; 

 Term of 4 years from 26 September 2011; 

 Repayable in shares or cash at a 5% premium.  The timing of the conversion is at the 
discretion of La Jolla Cove Investors Inc.;  

 Conversion price is the lower of 25 cents or 80% of 3 lowest VWAP for the prior 21 days; & 

 The agreement provides for an event of default in certain circumstances and which is not 
cured within 10 working days including when the average UXA VWAP is below $0.0034 for 
3 consecutive trading days.  If in default, amount becomes due and payable at 120%.  
Subsequent to year end the UXA VWAP has been below $0.0034 for 3 consecutive days.  
The Group has negotiated a moratorium with La Jolla that reduces the floor price from 
$0.0034 to $0.0015, and waives all events of default on the condition that UXA 
recommences trading on the ASX by 15 February 2013. 

Convertible Note – Australian Special Opportunity Fund 
The key terms of the convertible note from Australian Special Opportunity Fund (ASOF) include: 

 Total facility of AU$0.5 million, funded in one tranche; 

 Interest rate of 0% p.a.; 

 Term of 2 years from 12 April 2012; 

 Repayable in shares.  The timing of the conversion is at the discretion of ASOF and must be 
a minimum of $50,000 conversions; 

 Conversion price is 91.5% of the 3 lowest consecutive VWAP for the prior 20 trading days; 
and 

 The agreement provides for an event of default in certain circumstances which may result 
in the amount becoming due and payable.  

Subsequent to the end of the financial year the Group was in breach of its convertible note loan 
agreement with Australian Special Opportunity Fund as it was suspended from trading on the 
ASX.  The Group has secured a waiver of the breach on the condition that UXA recommences 
trading on the ASX by 13 February 2013.  

Convertible Notes – Other liabilities 

Other liabilities of $608k represent the option value on the convertible notes as at 30 June 2012. 

28. Capital and other commitments 

Exploration expenditure commitments 

In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration licences, the Group is required to 
perform minimum exploration work to meet the minimum expenditure requirements specified 
by various State governments. These obligations are subject to renegotiation when application 
for a mining lease is made and at other times. For the ELs held at year end, the aggregate 
minimum expenditure requirement per annum is $625,318. 
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29. Impairment testing 

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications 
that goodwill is impaired. The annual impairment test is performed at year end. The Group has 
identified its borehole logging operations as two cash generating units. The cash generating units 
are not larger than an operating segment as defined in IFRS 8 Operating Segments.  

Goodwill acquired has been allocated to individual cash generating units or segments for 
impairment testing as follows:  

$’000 2012 2011 

Australian borehole logging 1,790 1,790 

USA borehole logging 1,006    954 

Total: 2,796 2,744 

 

Basis of determining recoverable amount 

In the current year the Group has used the fair value less costs to sell method to determine the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.  In the prior year the Group used the value in 
use methodology.   The change in methodology arose due to the receipt of independent 
assessments of market value during a strategic review of the borehole logging business.  The 
deterioration in market values evidenced by these assessments is supported by the expressions 
of interest received for both the Australian and USA businesses (refer to note 33 – subsequent 
events). 

 

2012 

Key assumptions used in determining fair value less costs to sell 

In forming a view as to the fair value of the Australian and USA borehole logging businesses, the 
directors obtained independent advice from Capital Strategies Pty Ltd and Stantons International 
Securities.  The directors determined that the fair value of the CGUs, together with an estimate 
of the selling costs, were: 

 

$’000 

Fair Value Estimated 
costs to sell 

Net Recoverable 
Value 

Australian borehole logging 2,500 (170) 2,330 

USA borehole logging 700    (50) 650 

Total: 3,200 (220) 2,980 

Based on the recoverable amount of each CGU, as depicted above, a total  impairment charge of 
$4.4m was required to be recognised. This was recognised against the following assets: 

$’000 

Goodwill 2,796 

Property, plant and equipment 1,311 

Other intangible assets 272 

 4,379 
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29. Impairment testing (continued) 

Subsequent to balance date the Group agreed to sell the USA business subject to the consent of 
shareholders. The sale will result in a further impairment of $0.3m being recognised in the 2013 
financial year (refer to note 33 – subsequent events). 
 
2011 

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations 

The Group has used a discounted cash flow analysis to determine the value in use. Value in use is 
based on cash flow projections reflecting the financial forecast and strategy plans approved by 
senior management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are 
extrapolated with a long-term plan growth of 3% including inflation 

Key assumptions used in the calculation of recoverable amounts are discount rates, terminal 
value growth rates, EBITDA margins and capital expenditure. These assumptions are as follows: 

 
Pre-tax Discount rate 

Terminal value 

growth rate 

 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Geoscience Associates Australia Pty Ltd 19.1% 19.0% 3.0% 3.0% 

Geoscience Services USA, Inc 14.3% - 3.0% - 

Budgeted EBITDA is expressed as the compound annual growth rates in the initial five years of the plans 
used for impairment testing. 

Discount rate 

A pre-tax discount rate of 19.1% was applied for the Australian operation in determining the 
recoverable amount of the unit. The discount rate was estimated based on past experience, and 
industry average weighted average cost of capital, which was based on a possible range of debt 
leveraging of 30% at a market interest rate of 7%.  The USA operation used a pre-tax discount 
rate of 14.3% and a market interest rate of 3.75% - 5% 

Terminal value growth rate 

A long term growth rate into perpetuity has been determined as the lower of the nominal GDP 
rates for the country of operation and the long term compound annual growth rate in EBITDA 
estimated by management. 

Sensitivity 

The Australian borehole logging cash generating unit’s recoverable amount which exceeds its 
carrying value by approximately $0.7m is sensitive to a return to profitability. This is premised on 
the La Nina weather pattern which resulted in low levels of activity during the period, not 
recurring.  However, a permanent reduction of 10% of forecast revenues would be required 
before any consideration of impairment would be considered necessary. 
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30. Acquisition of subsidiaries 

The assets and business of Geoinstruments Logging LLC in the United States of America was 
acquired by UXA’s wholly owned subsidiary Geoscience Services USA (GSUSA) effective 1 
December 2010. The terms of the purchase of business agreement provided for the payment to 
the vendor of US$1.875 million in exchange for an operational business. The purchase was 
intended to complement the existing borehole logging business of Geoscience Associates 
Australia Pty Ltd. The expected benefits of the acquisition included mitigating the risks of grass 
roots exploration through diversification of business activities by operating a cash generating 
business, operating in the same sector as UXA’s exploration activities. 

Consideration transferred (in AUD) (in thousands of dollars)  2011 

  

Cash 1,878 

 
Identifiable assets acquired:  

Plant and equipment 852 

Goodwill 1,026 

Total: 1,878 

 
 

 
Information about acquired subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 $’ 000 

Combined revenue 633 

Reportable profit/ (loss) (323) 

In the seven months to 30 June 2011, GS USA contributed revenue of $633k and loss of 
$323k (after inter-company G&A charges and one off acquisition costs) to the Group’s 
results. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2010, management estimates that  revenue 
would have been $1.1m and loss for the year would have been $465k. In determining these 
amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments, determined 
provisionally, that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the 
acquisition has occurred 1 July 2010. 

31. Earnings per share  

   
2012 
Cents 

2011 
Cents 

Basic earnings (loss) per share (1.8) (1) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share (1.8) (1) 

 

Basic earnings per share 

The calculation of basic earnings per share at 30 June 2012 was based on the loss attributable to 
Ordinary Shareholders of $8,221,422 (2011: $3,608,614) and a weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding of 440,761,444 (2011: 348,655,962), calculated as follows:  
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31. Earnings per share (cont.) 

 2012 2011 

Weighted average number of shares  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the 
denominator in calculating basic earnings per share 440,761,444 348,655,962 

Diluted earnings per share 

The calculation of diluted earnings per share at 30 June 2012 was based on the same numbers as 
basic earnings per share as shown above.  The number of outstanding share options, while on 
issue, were not considered to be potential ordinary shares for the year ended 30 June 2012 or 30 
June 2011 as they were anti-dilutive. 

32. Parent entity disclosures 

As at, and throughout, the financial year ending 30 June 2012 the parent company of the Group 
was UXA Resources Limited. 

$’000 Company 

 2012 2011 

Result of the parent entity   

Total comprehensive profit/ (loss) for the period (13,346) (1,272) 

   

Financial position of parent entity at year end   

Current assets 891 11,873 

Total assets 3,850 13,697 

   

Current liabilities 566 902 

Total liabilities 3,418 2,183 

   

Total equity of parent entity comprising of:   

Share Capital 30,420 28,362 

Reserves 1,268 1,229 

Accumulated losses (31,256) (18,006) 

Total Equity 432 11,585 
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33. Events subsequent to the balance date 

Other than the matters discussed below (and in note 2(a) regarding the alternate basis of 
preparation), there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date 
of this report any item, transaction or event of material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of 
the Directors of UXA, to affect significantly the operations of UXA, the results of those operations, 
or the state of affairs of UXA, in future financial years. 

 In August 2012, the Group was in breach of its convertible note agreement with La Jolla Cove 
Investors Inc. The agreement provides for an event of default in certain circumstances 
including when the average UXA VWAP is below $0.0034 for 3 consecutive trading days.  If in 
default, the amount becomes due and payable at 120%. The Group has negotiated a 
moratorium with La Jolla that reduces the floor price from $0.0034 to $0.0015, and waives all 
events of default on the condition that UXA recommences trading on the ASX by 15 February 
2013. 

 In September 2012, the Group breached one of its debt covenants in relation to its secured 
bank loans and received a letter of waiver from the National Australia Bank (NAB). Agreement 
has been reached with NAB to defer future hire purchase payments until 31 March 2013. The 
debt is to be repaid in full on sale of the logging business. 

 In October 2012, UXA was suspended from quotation on the Australian Stock Exchange for not 
lodging its financial statements by 30 September 2012. 

 In October 2012, the Group was in breach of its convertible note loan agreement with 
Australian Special Opportunity Fund as it was suspended from trading on the ASX.  The Group 
has secured a waiver of the breach on the condition that UXA recommences trading on the ASX 
by 13 February 2013. 

 Announced that it intends to sell the Australian wireline logging business and the PFN 
technology.  This sale process is currently underway. 

 In November 2012, the Group accepted an offer to sell the business and assets of the 
Geoscience Services USA, Inc for a cash offer of US$350,000 and assumption of the US debt by 
the acquirer. The sale will result in a further impairment of $0.3m being recognised in the 2013 
financial year. Further it announced an intention to sell the Australian wireline logging business 
and the PFN technology.  This sale process is currently underway. Should the Group be 
required to accelerate the process and conclude a sale to provide funds for operations, the 
initial expressions of interest received from bidders indicate that a further impairment may be 
required.  

 In December 2012, non-core exploration tenements were sold to Straits Resources in response 
to an all cash offer of $375,000. 

 In December 2012, the Group announced a Rights Issue to shareholders. Following 
consultation with ASIC, this offer was subsequently withdrawn until UXA recommences trading 
on the ASX. 

 The Group also announced the resignation of Ian Mutton as a Non-Executive Director of the 
Company with effect from 3 December 2012, and the Company’s Managing Director, Dr Russell 
Penney with effect from 14 June 2013. 

 Appointed Simon Powell as General Manager effective 24 December 2012. 
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Director’s declaration 

1. In the opinion of the Directors of UXA Resources Limited (“UXA”): 

(a)  the  financial  statements  and  notes  set  out  on  pages  42  to  81,  and  the  Remuneration 
Report in the Directors’ Report on pages 26 to 40, are in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of 
its performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and 

(ii)  complying with Accounting Standards  in Australia  (including Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b)  the  financial  report  also  complies  with  International  Financial  Reporting  Standards  as 
disclosed in Note 2(b); 

(c)   due  to  the  significant  uncertainty  outlined  in  Note  2(a),  the  directors  are  unable  to 
conclude that UXA will remain a going concern and be able to pay its debts as and when 
they fall due for the next 12 months. 

2. The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 
2001 from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 
30 June 2012. 

 

Without qualifying the above statements, the Directors draw attention to Note 2(a) “alternate basis of 
preparation” of the financial statements.  

 

Dated at Adelaide this 11th day of February 2013. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 

Neill F Arthur 

Director 
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Statement 

UXA Resources Limited ("Company") has made it a priority to adopt systems of control and 
accountability as the basis for the administration of corporate governance.  Some of these policies 
and procedures are summarised in this statement. Commensurate with the spirit of the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council's Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 
("Principles & Recommendations"), the Company has followed each recommendation where the 
Board has considered the recommendation to be an appropriate benchmark for its corporate 
governance practices.  Where the Company's corporate governance practices follow a 
recommendation, the Board has made appropriate statements reporting on the adoption of the 
recommendation.  Where, after due consideration, the Company's corporate governance practices 
depart from a recommendation, the Board has offered full disclosure and reason for the adoption of 
its own practice, in compliance with the "if not, why not" regime. 

Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices 

Summary Statement 

 
 

ASX P & R1 
If not, why 
not2 

 ASX P & R1 If not, why 
not2 

Recommendation 1.1   Recommendation 4.3   

Recommendation 1.2   Recommendation 4.4³ n/a n/a 

Recommendation 1.3³ n/a n/a Recommendation 5.1   

Recommendation 2.1   Recommendation 5.2³ n/a n/a 

Recommendation 2.2   Recommendation 6.1   

Recommendation 2.3   Recommendation 6.2³ n/a n/a 

Recommendation 2.4   Recommendation 7.1   

Recommendation 2.5   Recommendation 7.2    

Recommendation 2.6³ n/a n/a Recommendation 7.3   

Recommendation 3.1   Recommendation 7.4³ n/a n/a 

Recommendation 3.2   Recommendation 8.1   

Recommendation 3.3   Recommendation 8.2   

Recommendation 3.4   Recommendation 8.3³ n/a n/a 

Recommendation 3.5³ n/a n/a    

Recommendation 4.1      

Recommendation 4.2      
 

 

1 Indicates where the Company has followed the Principles & Recommendations. 
2 Indicates where the Company has provided "if not, why not" disclosure. 
3 Indicates an information based recommendation. Information based recommendations are not 

adopted or reported against using "if not, why not" disclosure – information required is either 
provided or it is not. 
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Website Disclosures 

Further information about the Company's charters, policies and procedures may be found at the 
Company's website at www.uxa.com.au under the section marked Corporate Governance.  A list 
of the charters, policies and procedures which are referred to in this Corporate Governance 
Statement, together with the Recommendations to which they relate, are set out below. 

Charters Recommendation(s) 

Board 1.3 

Audit Committee 4.4 

Nomination Committee 2.6 

Remuneration Committee 8.3 

  

Policies and Procedures  

Policy and Procedure for Selection and (Re)Appointment of Directors 2.6 

Process for Performance Evaluation 1.2, 2.5 

Policy on Assessing the Independence of Directors 2.6 

Policy for Trading in Company Securities (summary) 3.2, 3.3 

Ethical and Responsible Decision Making 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 

Policy on Continuous Disclosure (summary) 5.1, 5.2 

Procedure for Selection, Appointment and Rotation of External Auditor 4.4 

Shareholder Communication Policy 6.1, 6.2 

Risk Management Policy (summary) 7.1, 7.4 

 

Disclosure – Principles & Recommendations 

The Company reports below on how it has followed (or otherwise departed from) each of the 
Principles & Recommendations during the 2011/2012 financial year ("Reporting Period"). 
 

 

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
 

Recommendation 1.1:  
 
Companies should establish the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to senior 
executives and disclose those functions. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Company has established the functions reserved to the Board and has set out these 
functions in its Board Charter.  
 
The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by: 
(a) overseeing the Company, including its control and accountability systems; 
(b) appointing the chief executive officer, or equivalent, for a period and on terms as the 

directors see fit and, where appropriate, removing the chief executive officer, or equivalent; 
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(c) ratifying the appointment and, where appropriate, the removal of senior executives, 

including the chief financial officer and the company secretary; 
(d) evaluating the performance of senior executives; 
(e) ensuring the Company's Policy and Procedure for Selection and (Re)Appointment of 

Directors is reviewed in accordance with the Company's Nomination Committee Charter;  
(f) approving the Company's policies on risk oversight and management, internal compliance 

and control, Code of Conduct, and legal compliance; 
(g) satisfying itself that senior management has developed and implemented a sound system of 

risk management and internal control in relation to financial reporting risks and reviewed 
the effectiveness of the operation of that system; 

(h) assessing the effectiveness of senior management's implementation of systems for 
managing material business risk including the making of additional enquiries and to request 
assurances regarding the management of material business risk, as appropriate;  

(i) monitoring, reviewing and challenging senior management's performance and 
implementation of strategy;  

(j) ensuring appropriate resources are available to senior management; 
(k) approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, capital management, 

and acquisitions and divestitures; 
(l) approving the annual budget of the Company; 
(m) monitoring the financial performance of the Company; 
(n) ensuring the integrity of the Company's  financial (with the assistance of the Audit 

Committee, if applicable) and other reporting through approval and monitoring; 
(o) providing overall corporate governance of the Company, including conducting regular 

reviews of the balance of responsibilities within the Company to ensure division of functions 
remain appropriate to the needs of the Company; 

(p) appointing the external auditor (where applicable, based on recommendations of the Audit 
Committee) and the appointment of a new external auditor when any vacancy arises, 
provided that any appointment made by the Board must be ratified by shareholders at the 
next annual general meeting of the Company; 

(q) engaging with the Company’s external auditors and Audit Committee (where there is a 
separate Audit Committee); 

(r) monitoring compliance with all of the Company's legal obligations, such as those obligations 
relating to the environment, native title, cultural heritage and occupational health and 
safety; and 

(s) make regular assessment of whether each non-executive director is independent in 
accordance with the Company's Policy on Assessing the Independence of Directors.   

 
The Board may not delegate its overall responsibility for the matters listed above.  However, it 
may delegate to senior management the responsibility of the day-to-day activities in fulfilling 
the Board's responsibility provided those matters do not exceed the Materiality Threshold as 
defined below 
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The Company has established the functions delegated to senior executives and has set out these 
functions in its Board Charter. Senior executives are responsible for supporting the Managing 
Director and to assist the Managing Director in implementing the running of the general 
operations and financial business of the Company, in accordance with the delegated authority of 
the Board. 

Senior executives are responsible for reporting all matters which fall within the Company's 
materiality thresholds at first instance to the Managing Director or, if the matter concerns the 
Managing Director, then directly to the Chair or the lead independent director, as appropriate. 

Recommendation 1.2:  
 
Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Board is responsible for evaluating the senior executives. The Board reviews the senior 
executives on an ongoing informal basis. 
 

Recommendation 1.3:  
 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 1. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
During the Reporting Period the performance evaluation of senior executives took place in 
accordance with the process disclosed at Recommendation 1.2.  
 

 

Principle 2 – Structure the board to add value 
 

Recommendation 2.1:  
 
A majority of the Board should be independent directors. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The independent directors of the Board are Neill Arthur, Scott McKay, Ian Mutton and David 
Sutich. The non-independent director of the Board is Russell Penney. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
During the Reporting Period the majority of directors were independent in accordance with the 
Recommendation 1.2.  
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Recommendation 2.2:   
 
The Chair should be an independent director. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The independent Chair of the Board is Neill Arthur.  
 
Recommendation 2.3:   
 
The roles of the Chair and Chief Executive Officer should not be exercised by the same 
individual. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Managing Director is Russell Penney who is not Chair of the Board. 
 
Recommendation 2.4:   
 
The Board should establish a Nomination Committee. 
 
Notification of Departure: 
 
The Company has not established a separate Nomination Committee. 
 
Explanation for Departure: 
 
Given the current size and composition of the Company, the Board believes that there would be 
no efficiencies gained by conducting a separate Nomination Committee Meetings. Accordingly, 
the Board performed the role of Nomination Committee. Items that are usually required to be 
discussed by a Nomination Committee are marked as separate agenda items at Board meetings 
when required. When the Board convenes as the Nomination Committee it carries out those 
functions which are delegated in the Company’s Nomination Committee Charter. The Board 
deals with any conflicts of interest that may occur when convening in the capacity of 
Nomination Committee by ensuring the director with conflicting interests is not party to the 
relevant discussions.  
 
Recommendation 2.5:   
 
Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its 
committees and individual directors.  
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Disclosure: 
 
The Chair is responsible for evaluation of the Board and when deemed appropriate, Board 
Committees and individual directors.  The Board, in its capacity as the Nomination Committee, is 
responsible for evaluating the Managing Director. 
 
These evaluations are performed on an ongoing informal basis.  
 
Recommendation 2.6:  
 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 2. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
Skills, Experience, Expertise and Term of Office of each Director 

A profile of each director containing their skills, experience, expertise and term of office is set 
out in the Directors' Report. 

Identification of Independent Directors 
 
The independent directors of the Company are Neill Arthur, Scott McKay, Ian Mutton and David 
Sutich. These directors are independent as they are non-executive directors who are not 
members of management and who are free of any business or other relationship that could 
materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the 
independent exercise of their judgment. 
 
Independence is measured having regard to the relationships listed in Box 2.1 of the Principles & 
Recommendations and the Company's materiality thresholds.  The materiality thresholds are set 
out below. 

Company's Materiality Thresholds 
 
The Board has agreed on the following guidelines for assessing the materiality of matters, as set 
out in the Company's Board Charter: 
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Materiality – Quantitative 
Balance sheet items 
Balance sheet items are material if they have a value of more than 10% of pro-forma net asset. 
 
Profit and loss items 
Profit and loss items are material if they will have an impact on the current year operating result 
of 10% or more. 
 
Materiality – Qualitative 
Items are also material if: 
(a) they impact on the reputation of the Company; 
(b) they involve a breach of legislation or may potentially breach legislation; 
(c) they are outside the ordinary course of business; 
(d) they could affect the Company’s rights to its assets; 
(e) if accumulated they would trigger the quantitative tests;  
(f) they involve a contingent liability that would have a probable effect of 10% or more on 

balance sheet or profit and loss items; or 
(g) they will have an effect on operations which is likely to result in an increase or decrease in 

net income or dividend distribution of more than 10%. 
 
Material Contracts  
Contracts will be considered material if: 
(a) they are outside the ordinary course of business; 
(b) they contain exceptionally onerous provisions in the opinion of the Board; 
(c) they impact on income or distribution in excess of the quantitative tests; 
(d) any default, should it occur may trigger any of the quantitative or qualitative tests; 
(e) they are essential to the activities of the Company and cannot be replaced, or cannot be 

replaced without an increase in cost of such a quantum, triggering any of the quantitative 
tests; 

(f) they contain or trigger change of control provisions; 
(g) they are between or for the benefit of related parties; or 
(h) they otherwise trigger the quantitative tests. 
 
Any matter which falls within the above guidelines is a matter which triggers the materiality 
threshold ("Materiality Threshold"). 
 
Statement concerning availability of Independent Professional Advice 
 
The Board acknowledges the need for independent judgement on all Board decisions, 
irrespective of each individual director's independence. 
 
To assist directors with independent judgement, it is the Board's Policy that if a director 
considers it necessary to obtain independent professional advice to properly discharge the 
responsibility of their office as a director then, provided the director first obtains approval for 
incurring such expense from the Chair, the Company will pay the reasonable expenses 
associated with obtaining such advice. 
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Nomination Matters 
 
The full Board carries out the role of the Nomination Committee.  The full Board convened as a 
Nomination Committee during the Reporting Period, for the purpose of appointment of 
directors to replace retiring directors.  To assist the Board to fulfil its function as the Nomination 
Committee, it has adopted a Nomination Committee Charter. 

The explanation for departure set out under Recommendation 2.4 above explains how the 
functions of the Nomination Committee are performed. 

Performance Evaluation 
 
During the Reporting Period an evaluation of the Board, Board committees and individual 
directors did occur in accordance with the disclosed process at Recommendation 2.5. 
 
Selection and (Re) Appointment of Directors 
 
In determining candidates for the Board, the Nomination Committee (or equivalent) follows a 
prescribed procedure whereby it considers the balance of independent directors on the Board 
as well as the skills and qualifications of potential candidates that will best enhance the Board's 
effectiveness. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Board recognises that Board renewal is critical to performance and the impact of Board 
tenure on succession planning. One third of the Board of Directors retires in each year in 
accordance with the Company’s Constitution.  Re-appointment of directors is not automatic. 
 

 

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision-making 

 

Recommendation 3.1:  
 

Companies should establish a Code of Conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the code 
as to the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the company's integrity, the practices 
necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the reasonable expectations of their 
stakeholders and the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and 
investigating reports of unethical practices. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Company has established a Code of Conduct as to the practices necessary to maintain 
confidence in the Company's integrity, practices necessary to take into account their legal 
obligations and the expectations of their stakeholders and responsibility and accountability of 
individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices.  
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Recommendation 3.2:  
 
Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity, and disclose the policy or a summary 
of that policy. 
 
Notification of Departure: 
 
The Company has not established a policy concerning Diversity. 
 
Explanation for Departure: 
 

The board recognizes that it is appropriate to have gender diversity throughout the company to 
assist in balancing overall priorities and skills for the company as a whole. 

The Group values an inclusive culture where all people are able to succeed to the best of their 
ability. These principles also guide our employees’ conduct in all their dealings with stakeholders 
of the Company. Diversity is regarded as a key factor in enabling the Company to attract the 
broadest range of talent in the market when positions become vacant. 

The company’s commitment to diversity requires that we work to ensure an environment which 
is supportive of equality and access for all our staff to career opportunities, development, 
remuneration and benefits. 

However, because of the very small size of the workforce within the company, UXA considers 
applicants for each vacant position on merit, skill and aptitude for the role required rather than 
being conscious of a target for various classes of diversity, including gender. As a result, the 
company has not set targets for any of the multiple opportunities for diversity. 
 
Recommendation 3.3:  
 
Companies should disclose in each annual report the measurable objectives for achieving 
gender diversity. 

 
Notification of Departure: 
 
The Company has not established measurable objectives concerning Diversity. 

 
Explanation for Departure: 
 
Because of the very small size of the workforce within the company, UXA considers applicants 
for each vacant position on merit, skill and aptitude for the role required rather than being 
conscious of a target for various classes of diversity, including gender. As a result, the company 
has not set targets for any of the multiple opportunities for diversity. 
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Recommendation 3.4:  
 
Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of women in the whole 
organisation, in senior executive positions and on the board. 
 
Disclosure 
 
Within the group, the proportion of women employees is: 
 

 Female #’s Male #’s 

UXA   

Board Nil 4 

Senior Executives Nil 2 

Employees 1 1 

GAA   

Senior Executives NIL 2 

Employees 2 11 

GS USA   

Board Nil 2 

Senior Executives Nil 1 

Employees NIL 5 

 

 
 
 
Recommendation 3.5: 
 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 3. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
Please refer to the section above marked Website Disclosures. 
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Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
 
Recommendation 4.1 and 4.2: 
 
The Board should establish an Audit Committee and the Audit Committee should be structured 
so that it: 
 

 consists only of non-executive directors 

 consists of a majority of independent directors 

 is chaired by an independent Chair, who is not Chair of the Board  

 has at least three members. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Company has established an Audit Committee 
 
Recommendation 4.3:  
 
The Audit Committee should have a formal charter. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Company has adopted an Audit Committee Charter.  
 
Recommendation 4.4:  
 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 4. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Audit Committee, held two meetings during the Reporting Period. 

Details of each of the director's qualifications are set out in the Directors' Report. All members 
of the Board consider themselves to be financially literate and have industry knowledge. 

The Company has established procedures for the selection, appointment and rotation of its 
external auditor. The Board is responsible for the initial appointment of the external auditor and 
the appointment of a new external auditor when any vacancy arises, as recommended by the 
Audit Committee (or its equivalent). Candidates for the position of external auditor must 
demonstrate complete independence from the Company through the engagement period. The 
Board may otherwise select an external auditor based on criteria relevant to the Company's 
business and circumstances. The performance of the external auditor is reviewed on an annual 
basis by the Audit Committee (or its equivalent) and any recommendations are made to the 
Board.  
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Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 
Recommendation 5.1:  
 
Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing 
Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that 
compliance and disclose those policies or a summary of those policies. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Company has established written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing 
Rule disclosure and accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance.  
 
Recommendation 5.2:  
 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 5. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
Please refer to the section above marked Website Disclosures. 
 
 

 

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders 
 
Recommendation 6.1:  
 
Companies should design a communications policy for promoting effective communication with 
shareholders and encouraging their participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or 
a summary of that policy. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Company has designed a communications policy for promoting effective communication 
with shareholders and encouraging shareholder participation at general meetings. 
 
 
 
Recommendation 6.2:  
 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 6. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
Please refer to the section above marked Website Disclosures. 
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Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk 
 
Recommendation 7.1: 
 
Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of material business 
risks and disclose a summary of those policies. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Board has adopted a Risk Management Policy, which sets out the Company's risk profile. 
Under the Policy, the Board is responsible for approving the Company's policies on risk oversight 
and management and satisfying itself that management has developed and implemented a 
sound system of risk management and internal control. 

Under the Policy, the Board delegates day-to-day management of risk to the Chief Executive 
Officer, who is responsible for identifying, assessing, monitoring and managing risks. The Chief 
Executive Officer is also responsible for updating the Company's material business risks to 
reflect any material changes, with the approval of the Board. As part of the Company's risk 
management system, the Managing Director is required to report on the progress of, and on all 
matters associated with, risk management on a regular basis. The Managing Director is to report 
to the Board as to the effectiveness of the Company's management of its material business risks, 
at least annually. 

In fulfilling the duties of risk management, the Chief Executive Officer/Managing Director may 
have unrestricted access to Company employees, contractors and records and may obtain 
independent expert advice on any matter they believe appropriate, with the prior approval of 
the Board. 

In addition, the following risk management measures have been adopted by the Board to 
manage the Company's material business risks: 

 the Board approves operating and capital expenditure budgets; 

 the Board monitors progress against those budgets, including the monitoring of key 
performance indicators of both a financial and non financial nature; 

 the Board has established authority limits for management which, if exceeded, will require 
prior Board approval;  

 the Board has adopted a compliance procedure for the purpose of ensuring compliance 
with the Company's continuous disclosure obligations; and 

 the Board has adopted a corporate governance manual which contains other policies to 
assist the Company to establish and maintain its governance practices. 
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Management is accountable to the Managing Director to ensure that operating efficiency, 
effectiveness of risk management procedures, internal compliance control systems, controls and 
policies are all being monitored. Management has designed and implemented a risk 
management and internal control system to manage the company’s material business risks and 
reports to the board at each meeting on the effective management of those risks. The company 
has developed a series of operational risks which the company believes to be inherent in the 
industry in which the company operates. These include: 
 

 Changed operating, market or regulatory environments 

 Fluctuations in demand volumes 

 Fluctuations in exchange rates 

 Increasing costs of operations 
 
These risk areas are provided here to assist investors better understand the nature of the 
significant risks faced by the company. 
  
Recommendation 7.2:  
 
The Board should require management to design and implement the risk management and 
internal control system to manage the Company's material business risks and report to it on 
whether those risks are being managed effectively.  The Board should disclose that management 
has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the Company's management of its material business 
risks. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Board has required management to design, implement and maintain risk management and 
internal control systems to manage the Company's materials business risks. The Board also 
requires management to report to it confirming that those risks are being managed effectively. 
Further, the Board has received a report from management as to the effectiveness of the 
Company's management of its material business risks.   

Recommendation 7.3:  
 
The Board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer (or 
equivalent) and the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in 
accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all material 
respects in relation to financial reporting risks.  
 
Disclosure: 
 
The General Manager and the Chief Financial Executive have provided a declaration to the 
Board in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act and have assured the Board that 
such declaration is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and 
that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial risk.  
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Recommendation 7.4:  
 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 7. 
Disclosure: 
 
The Board has received the report from management under Recommendation 7.2.  
 
The Board has received the assurance from the General Manager and the Chief Financial 
Executive under Recommendation 7.3.  
 

 

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
 

Recommendation 8.1:  
 
The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The Board has established a remuneration Committee, the majority of whom are independent 
directors. 
 
Recommendation 8.2:  
 
Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration 
from that of executive directors and senior executives. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
Non-executive directors are remunerated at a fixed fee for time, commitment and 
responsibilities. Remuneration for non-executive directors is not linked to individual 
performance.  
 
Executives are offered a competitive level of base pay at market rates and are reviewed annually 
to ensure market competitiveness. 
 
Recommendation 8.3:  
 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 8. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
Details of remuneration, including the Company’s policy on remuneration, are contained in the 
“Remuneration Report” which forms of part of the Directors’ Report. 
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 Please refer to the section above marked Website Disclosures. 

The full Board, in its capacity as the Remuneration Committee, met during the Reporting Period. 
To assist the Board to fulfil its function as the Remuneration Committee, it has adopted a 
Remuneration Committee Charter. 

The explanation for departure set out under Recommendation 8.1 above explains how the 
functions of the Remuneration Committee are performed. 

There are no termination or retirement benefits for non-executive directors (other than for 
superannuation) and other than statutory benefits for non-executive directors. 

The Company's Remuneration Policy includes a statement of the Company's policy on 
prohibiting transactions in associated products which limit the risk of participating in unvested 
entitlements under any equity based remuneration schemes.  
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
 
Additional Information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited Listing Rules and 
not disclosed elsewhere in this report is set out below. 
 
a) Shareholdings as at 31 January 2013 
  
Substantial shareholders 
 
The following were substantial shareholders as at 31 January 2013: 
 

Name Number of fully paid 
ordinary shares held 

% held 

Dr John Henry Addison McMahon 83,183,188 9.38 

  
Voting Rights 
 
Fully paid ordinary shares 
Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any class of shares, at a meeting of 
members, on a show of hands, each member present (in person, by proxy, attorney or 
representative) has one vote and on a poll, each member present (in person, by proxy, 
attorney or representative) has one vote for each fully paid share they hold. 
 
Distribution of equity security holders 
 

Category Holders of 

Ordinary 
Shares 

% of Issued 
Capital 

1 – 1000 196 0.01 

1,001 – 5,000 346 0.11 

5,001 – 10,000 247 0.23 

10,001 – 50,000 673 2.01 

50,001 – 100,000 268 2.51 

100,001 – 500,000 546 15.78 

500,001 – 1,000,000 151 13.31 

1,000,001 and over 142 66.05 

Total number of security holders 2,569 100.00 
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Unmarketable Parcels 
 Minimum Parcel Size Number of Holders Units 
Ordinary Shares $500.00 at $0.002/unit 2,028 92,635,495 
 
b) Option holdings as at 31 January 2013 
 
Unquoted Securities 
 
Options over Unissued shares 
 
A total of 17,920,000 options are on issue. 5,500,000 options are on issue to three directors. 
12,420,000 options are on issue to 8 other holders.  
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
 
Twenty largest shareholders – ordinary shares as at 31 January 2013 
 

Name Number of fully paid 
ordinary shares held 

% held 

Dr John Henry Addison McMahon 83,183,188 9.38 

La Jolla Cove Investors Inc 38,891,514 4.39 

Mr Paul Jackson 30,000,000 3.38 

CBS Plaza (Aust) Pty Ltd 20,000,000 2.26 

Mr B and Mrs S Willcocks <B & S Willcocks Family A/C> 16,404,999 1.85 

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 14,637,138 1.65 

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 10,808,382 1.22 

Mr Mehmet Tavsancioglu 8,983,046 1.01 

CWH Resources Limited 8,774,500 0.99 

Ms Mooi Fay Lee 8,580,000 0.97 

Ayres Investments Pty Ltd 7,900,320 0.89 

Mr Deepak Dineshchandra Patel 7,134,000 0.80 

Huzami Pty Ltd 7,054,795 0.80 

Mr Stephen Ray Blair 6,981,871 0.79 

Minsk Pty Ltd 6,727,955 0.76 

Tarmel Pty Ltd <Superannuation Fund A/C> 6,424,000 0.72 

Mr Oren Brooke Loosemore 6,000,000 0.68 

Mr Frank George Spanyik 6,000,000 0.68 

Mr The Bao Vu 5,691,596 0.64 

Hocking (Holdings) Pty Ltd 5,054,795 0.57 

TOTAL 305,232,099 34.42 

 
On market buy-back 
 
There is no current on-market buy back. 
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Australian Business No. 65 112 714 397 

Registered Office 20 Oborn Road 

Mount Barker 

South Australia 5251 

AUSTRALIA 
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Auditor KPMG 
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